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We are pleased to present NHS
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning
Group’s (CCG) annual report and
accounts of our first excellent year.

We have made it our priority to listen to
our member practices and the people
we serve, and have used their comments
to help set our priorities.

The CCG was launched in April 2013
and has brought together GPs from
across West Suffolk who share a vision
to deliver high quality, fully integrated
healthcare, while ensuring patients
have a say in the services they receive.
We have made some significant
achievements, including major
improvements to stroke services, cancer
care and mental health provision.
Children and young people have also
benefited, with plans in place for
autism services for teenagers and two
nurses for asthma and epilepsy. The
CCG has helped the local NHS, the
voluntary sector and social care to work
more closely together to provide people
with more efficient, joined-up services.
We have supported the provision of
services from West Suffolk Hospital into
Haverhill. In autumn 2014 we will open
a new community health centre for
Sudbury and its surrounding area.

Based on this feedback, we have started
to develop more integrated working in
West Suffolk so that people:

We have worked to spend money
wisely, making changes where needed
and investing in plans, shaped by the
public, our partners and clinicians. As
well as helping to deliver improved
services, this has ensured we remained
within our £273.3m budget.

• will not have to navigate around
a complex system to find the right
information, care or services that
they need;
• will have their health and care needs
identified before a crisis occurs;
• will have access to a range of local
services that focus on supporting
people to self-care and supporting
primary prevention;
• will have more control and choice
over their care;
• will have a named person when
they need help who will ensure that
the system works effectively, with a
single care record.
A recent NHS England commissioned
survey has highlighted West Suffolk
CCG as being one of the best clinical
commissioning groups in the country
for stakeholder engagement.
We have invested in new services for
the people of West Suffolk, based upon
the feedback we have received from
patients and the public.

Examples include:
• psychiatric liaison service at West
Suffolk Hospital;
• eating disorder service for young
people;
• autism service;
• primary mental health workers to
support young people;
• Memory Assessment Clinic capacity;
• 24/7 Hyper Acute Stroke services and
Early Supported Discharge;
• family carer advisers for GPs;
• cancer nurses in primary care;
• asthma and epilepsy nurses;
• paediatric advice line for GPs to
consultants at West Suffolk NHS
Hospital Foundation Trust;
• breastfeeding support;
• schemes to improve the performance
of our urgent care system.
We have successfully delivered most
of the patients’ rights as set out in the
NHS Constitution, including:
• maximum of 18 weeks from referral
to treatment;
• cancer waiting times for referral and
treatment;
• admission, transfer or discharge
within 4 hours from arrival at
emergency department.

We are proud of the NHS in West
Suffolk and want to continue to deliver
the best possible care in the future.
Although there will be challenges
ahead, we will face them with integrity
and build on the solid foundations
we have already put in place as we
continue to drive through further
improvements for the people we serve.

Dr Christopher Browning
Chairman, West Suffolk CCG
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MEMBER PRACTICES’ INTRODUCTION

The CCG is pleased to present this
report which reflects on the significant
progress it has made in addressing the
health priorities of the local community,
whilst delivering financial balance and
meeting most of the performance
targets set out within the NHS
Constitution.
The CCG has developed its own
distinctive ambition and underpinning
priorities which will provide a local
approach for delivery of the Health
and Wellbeing Strategy. At the heart of
this ambition is the view that greater
integrated working with stakeholders,
partners and communities is the primary
vehicle to improve the quality of those
services locally. Supporting delivery
of the CCG’s ambition are six clinical
priorities, which have been aligned to
both national and local frameworks:
• Develop clinical leadership
• Demonstrate excellence in patient
experience and patient engagement
• Improve the health and care of older
people
• Improve access to mental health
services
• Improve health and wellbeing
through partnership working
• Deliver financial sustainability
through quality improvement

The Strategic Report sets out how these
priorities have supported delivery of
the highest quality of health services
in West Suffolk through our work with
patients and stakeholders. During the
year, we have worked hard to engage
with our local patients, listening to
their feedback and responding to their
healthcare needs. The Strategic Report
details how the CCG has responded to
patients in the “You Said…We Did”,
whilst also setting out the delivery of
the key financial and performance
targets.
GPs, patient groups, MPs, Healthwatch
Suffolk, local authorities and councillors
gave feedback in a national poll
on whether stakeholder relations
continue to be central to the effective
commissioning of healthcare services in
West Suffolk.
To be successful commissioners, we
need to have strong relationships with
a range of health and care partners. An
Ipsos Mori poll of our partners to check
how we work with them highlighted
the confidence they have in us. This is
an externally produced report, with no
connection to the CCG.
Between 12 March 2014 and 8 April
2014, partners were asked a series
of questions. GPs from each of the
25 members practices were invited
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to review the first year of the CCG,
of which 22 responded (88%).
Other partners surveyed included
representatives from Healthwatch
Suffolk, the Health and Wellbeing
Board, councils, community members
and provider organisations.

• 93% reported a good working
relationship, with 20 practices
reporting very good/fairly good and
one very poor/fairly poor

Headline results were:

• 83% agree WSCCG has clear and
visible leadership (78% nationally)

• 95% of stakeholders agree they
are engaged with the CCG (83%
nationally). 21 member practices
reported they have been engaged
a great deal, one said not very much
at all
• 90% are satisfied with the way we
have engaged with them (74%
nationally). 19 member practices
were very/fairly satisfied, with two
very/fairly dissatisfied
• 78% agree that the CCG has
listened to their views, with 15
members practices saying they
strongly/tend to agree and one
strongly / tend to disagree
• 58% agreed that the CCG has
acted on their suggestions, with
10 members practices saying they
strongly/tend to agree and three
reporting that they strongly / tend to
disagree

• 83% have confidence in the CCG
acting on feedback (71% nationally)

A wealth of further information was
supplied, which will help the CCG
improve their ongoing organisational
development, so we can continue to
build strong relationships with partners.
A summary of results can be found on
p.52 of the Governing Body report here:
http://www.suffolkextranet.nhs.uk/
LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=UJyP2dd4NKw
%3d&tabid=2554&mid=5275
Every practice is visited regularly, and
educational events have been held
for GPs to influence policy/direction.
Practices have appreciated the support
for practices and management staff and
suggested more locality involvement.
In February 2014, the NHS England East
Anglia Area Team undertook its Quarter
3 Assurance Checkpoint meeting with
the CCG. The CCG was awarded an
overall assurance rating of “Assured”.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

This provides an understanding of the
CCG, including its history, its statutory
background, licence status and its
commissioning activities.
Legislative requirements
We are responsible for discharging a range
of duties on behalf of their patients in line
with the NHS Act 2006.
This includes:
• involving patients and the public in
shaping health services;
• improving the quality of services we
commission;
• reducing health inequalities.
We act effectively, efficiently and
economically by delegating responsibility
for making decision to our Governing
Body, with lead responsibility from the
Chief Officer. The Audit Committee
monitors the controls in place to ensure we
provide value for money. We certify that
NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning
Group has complied with the statutory
duties laid down in the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended).

----------------------------------------------------------------

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
5 June 2014
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Our history
The way in which healthcare services
are run changed significantly as a
result of the Health and Social Care
Act 2012. Primary care trusts ceased
to exist, with the majority of their
responsibilities taken over by CCGs.
In West Suffolk, GPs chose to
form a CCG that would embrace
commissioning from the acute, mental
health and community sector. From the
25 member GP practices, 8 GPs were
elected to sit on the CCG’s Governing
Body. We also have two practice
managers and a lay member each for
governance and patient and public
engagement.
The CCG was ‘authorised without
conditions’ following the national CCG
authorisation process in 2012, and
began its work on 1 April 2013. It now
buys, manages and pays for health
services such as emergency hospital
care, rehabilitation, most community
healthcare, mental health and learning
disability services for the people of
West Suffolk.
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Our Constitution

The population we serve

A legal document, called a
Constitution, sets out the arrangements
the CCG has made to ensure it meets
its responsibilities for commissioning
high quality health care for the people
of West Suffolk.

The CCG provides healthcare services
for around 240,000 people who are
registered with 25 GP practices across
West Suffolk. A predominantly rural
area, it includes the towns of Haverhill
(23,200 residents), Mildenhall and
Barton Mills (13,000) and Newmarket
and Exning (21,500) in the west,
Brandon (9,600) in the north and
Sudbury (20,200) in the south east.
Bury St Edmunds and Fornham All
Saints, which have a population
of 37,200 people, is at its centre.
Geographically, the area covered by the
CCG includes the whole of Forest Heath
and St Edmundsbury local authority
districts and parts of Mid Suffolk and
Babergh.

It describes the governing principles,
rules and procedures which will ensure
integrity, honesty and accountability in
the CCG’s day to day running. Also, it
commits the CCG to taking decisions
in an open and transparent way and
places the interests of patients and
public at its heart.
Our Constitution can be downloaded at:
www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/about-us/
our-constitution/

Several main roads, including the A14,
A11, A134 and A143, cross the area,
as does the railway line from Ipswich
to Cambridge, with stations at Bury
St Edmunds and Newmarket and the
villages in between. The United States
Air Force also has large airbases at
Lakenheath and Mildenhall.
Around 16% of the CCG’s registered
population is under the age of 15
(compared with an England average of
17%), while nearly 10% is aged 75 or
over (compared with a national average
of 7.5%).

The overall population of West Suffolk
is projected to increase by more than
7% between 2013 and 2022, with a
38% increase in people aged over 70.
Overall, the population of West Suffolk
is generally healthy with high life
expectancy of 80.2 years for males and
84 years for females. Life expectancy
at birth in 2007/09 for both males and
females is higher than in England as a
whole by 2 and 1.5 years respectively.
However, there are significant health
inequalities, with a 5.5 year gap for
men and a 4.3 year gap for women in
life expectancy between those living in
the most and the least deprived areas.
West Suffolk has similar levels of
deprivation to Suffolk overall. The areas
of highest deprivation are in parts of
Bury St Edmunds, Brandon, Mildenhall,
Newmarket, Haverhill South and
Sudbury, as well as in more rural areas
which have relatively poor access to
services. Some 42% of Suffolk residents
live in rural areas, and a significant
proportion of the population are
claiming incapacity or Department of
Work and Pension benefits, or living
with a limiting long-term illness.

Our headquarters
We are based in Bury St Edmunds.
Our wider management delivery team,
made up of contracting, quality and
safety, finance, corporate services
and communications, is shared with
neighbouring NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and is based in Bramford,
near Ipswich. This team delivers
contracted services to both CCGs
and is headed by a shared Chief Officer.
The property portfolio which was
owned or leased by NHS Suffolk
was transferred in its entirety to NHS
Property Services by Secretary of State
transfer order on 1 April 2013. As a
consequence, NHS Property Services Ltd,
as our built asset management partner,
runs and maintains that estate on
behalf of the CCG, including our office
accommodation. The Suffolk estate is
considered one of the best developed
and managed portfolios in the region,
due to the historical investment in both
staffing and buildings.
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Organisations the CCG
commissions from
We mainly commission services from:
• West Suffolk NHS Hospital
Foundation Trust;
• Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust;
• Serco, which manages community
services Suffolk Community
Healthcare;
• Harmoni (Care UK)
• East of England Ambulance Service
NHS Trust.
We also hold contracts with around 200
organisations.
This section summarises the nature
of those arrangements and the
relationships with the largest
providers.
West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust is
the largest provider of services to the
CCG’s population, delivering emergency
and planned specialist health care
from its hospital site which is set in a
19-hectare parkland site on the edge
of Bury St Edmunds. It has around 430
beds open at any one time.

The hospital is responsible for delivering
many of the CCG’s performance
objectives and is actively involved in
service redesign. The hospital has
performed well in most areas in
2013/14 and has recently opened a
Clinician Decision Unit (CDU) which
provides assessment and treatment
for short stay patients while helping
to avoid unnecessary admissions. It
cares for patients who have come into
hospital via the Emergency Department
and need a few hours of monitoring or
treatment before a decision is taken on
whether to admit them to a ward or
discharge them.

Serco (Suffolk Community
Healthcare)

Norfolk and Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust

Harmoni (Care UK)

Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust delivers mental health and
learning disabilities services for the
populations of Suffolk and Norfolk. The
Trust has worked closely with the CCG
in 2013/14 to ensure the new models
of care described in the Trust’s Service
Strategy are safe and fit with the CCG’s
vision and direction for mental health
services. In 2013/14 the CCG extended
psychiatric liaison services in partnership
with the Trust and West Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust.

Community services have undergone a
significant change programme designed
to release clinical time to caring for
patients. The CCG has undertaken
in-depth work with Serco Suffolk
Community Healthcare (SCH) to ensure
that the changes are being carried
out safely and in accordance with the
agreed specifications. Serco (SCH)
continue to engage in pathway reforms
and it will play a key role in the future
direction of community services in the
CCG area.

Harmoni provides NHS 111 and out
of hours GP services to the CCG’s
population. NHS 111 is a new service
for Suffolk and has generally performed
well. The out of hours GP service is
performing well and meets most of
its key performance targets. NHS 111
services will play a key role in the
CCG’s urgent care plans in 2014/15
and Harmoni is actively engaged in
the CCG’s Integrated Care clinical
workstream.

East of England Ambulance
Service Trust
The ambulance service delivers both
emergency and non-urgent patient
transport services to the CCG’s
population. The CCG is the lead
commissioner for the East of England
and is working with the service through
some challenging times to improve
response times and quality. The Trust
is part of the proposed system wide
reforms of urgent care.
Other providers
The CCG also commissions services
from Cambridge University Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust (Addenbrookes)
and Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust, the
community and voluntary sector,
General Practice, community providers,
other acute providers and the
independent sector.

NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14
Page 9

STRATEGIES
The Suffolk Health and Wellbeing
Board’s vision is that people in Suffolk
live healthier, happier lives with a
narrowing difference in life expectancy
between those living in our most
deprived communities and those who
are more affluent.
Care of the elderly is a key feature of
the vision, given the rising age of the
local population, as well as improving
people’s mental health and wellbeing,
giving children the best start in life, and
ensuring Suffolk residents have access
to a healthy environment and take
responsibility for their own health and
wellbeing. The strategy for delivering this
vision is integrated care.
Our organisations are already committed
to creating an integrated health and care
system that supports our population
to keep healthy and to remain living
independently with a good quality of life
for as long as possible.
In West Suffolk, our system, including
all our local health service providers,
social care services, district and borough
councils, Suffolk County Council, our
CCG, our local GPs, and our voluntary
sector and communities are bringing the
vision of the Health and Wellbeing Board
alive.

Linkage between Health and Wellbeing Strategy and CCG Clinical Priorities
Health and Wellbeing Strategy

CCG Clinical Priorities

Vision; People in Suffolk live healthier, happier lives.
We also want to narrow the differences in healthy
life expectancy between those living in our most
deprived communities and those who are more
affluent through greater improvements in more
disadvantaged communities.

The CCG, with strong clinical leadership, will continue to
work closely in partnership with other stakeholders, to
ensure that the significant changes to the way that services
are delivered continue to provide value for money and meet
the needs of the local population.

Priorities:

Priorities:

• Every child in Suffolk has the best start in life
• Suffolk residents have access to a health environment and
take responsibility for their own health and wellbeing
• Older people in Suffolk have a good quality of life
• People in Suffolk have opportunities to improve their mental
health and wellbeing

• To develop clinical leadership
• To demonstrate excellence in patient experience and
patient engagement
• To improve the health and care of older people
• To improve access to mental health services
• To improve health and wellbeing through partnership
working
• To deliver financial sustainability through quality
improvement

Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy is available here:
http://www.suffolk.gov.uk/your-council/decision-making/committees/suffolk-health-and-wellbeing-board
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Reducing Health Inequalities

The wider
determinants
of health

The lives
people lead

Major wider
determinants

Leading risk
factors

Financial status

Tobacco

Employment
and work
environment

High blood
pressure

Education
Housing

Alcohol
Cholesterol
Being
overweight

Source: National Audit Office literature review

The health
services
people use

Accessibility
and
responsiveness
Primary care
(e.g. GP
practices)
Secondary care
(e.g. hospital)
Preventative
care (measures
taken to prevent
diseases)
Community
services

Health inequality can be defined as
differences in health status or in the
distribution of health determinants
between different population groups.
For example, differences in mortality
rates between people from different
socioeconomic groups. Some health
inequalities are attributable to biological
variations or free choice and others are
attributable to the external environment
and conditions mainly outside the
control of the individuals concerned.
By working closely with health and
wellbeing partners, including public
health, the CCG has built on the
findings of the independent Acheson
inquiry (1998) to tackle health
inequalities and support those groups
which have the poorest outcomes
and experience of care. This focused
piece of work aimed to close the gap
in inequalities by targeting groups
who have lower life expectancies with
specific health and wellbeing initiatives.
With our partners, we have introduced
the three most cost effective, high
impact interventions recommended
by the National Audit Office report on
health inequalities. They are:
• Double the capacity of smoking
cessation services
By working with NHS England and
Suffolk County Council, encouraged

practices with low numbers of level
two smoking services to increase their
activity, in turn addressing one of the
major factors which contributes to an
increased risk of vascular disease.
• Increase the prescribing of drugs
to control blood pressure by 40%
• Increase the prescribing of drugs
to reduce cholesterol by 40%
Our medicines management team
has promoted NICE guidance on the
treatment of high blood pressure and
cholesterol. In addition, patients who
are not receiving optimal treatment
were identified during complex
medication reviews, and any anomalies
in treatment were notified to GP’s.
Alongside our colleagues in Public
Health, we have continued to analyse
our communities in respect of their
age, deprivation and mortality and
premature mortality levels. We also
looked in detail at marginalised
vulnerable adults, such as homeless
people, refugees and asylum seekers,
Gypsies and Travellers, ex-offenders and
black and minority ethnic communities.
The CCG has published equality
information about our staff and our local
communities, which can be found here.
http://www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/
about-us/equality-diversity
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Quality of Services
Since its launch, the CCG has put
quality at the heart of everything
it does. This focus has played an
essential role in helping ensure we
commission safe, effective services
which provide our patients with the
best possible experience of the NHS.
In its report ‘Quality in the new health
system - maintain and improving quality
from April 2013’, the National Quality
Board set out its expectation that quality
is the ‘organising principle of the NHS
and that a ‘relentless focus on quality
means a relentless focus on how we
can positively transform the lives of the
people who use and rely on our services’.
The quality team is responsible for
meeting the needs of the CCG’s
population through the commissioning
of high quality services and to work
as part of the whole health and social
care system to safeguard high quality
and patient safety through integrated
planning or these services.
The Health and Social Care Act
2012 requires that CCGs have a
duty to exercise functions with a
view to securing continuous quality
improvement in the quality of services
and the outcomes that are achieved
from this provision.

In setting the bar high for quality,
we worked with providers to
ensure that we not only deliver the
essential standards of quality and
safety regulated by the Care Quality
Commission (CQC), but also strive for
excellence and innovation in practice
to drive up those standards for patients
and their families.
We have also ensured that early
warning systems both locally and with
the NHS England Area Teams Quality
Surveillance Group are used to detect
the signs of a failing service or provider
organisation or where patient safety is
being compromised.
Early intervention with stakeholders
and partners to prevent the major
failings highlighted by the Francis report
(a national report on care standards
in the NHS) has been a priority for
the CCG and its systems, processes
and governance. The government
response to the Francis report ‘Hard
Truths: essential actions’, outlines its
commitment to a duty of candour to
patients and families where care failings
occur and the CCG will continue to
promote and monitor this approach in
its commissioned services.
Patient safety has also been highlighted
as of primary importance by Professor
Don Berwick in his report ‘Improving

the Safety of Patients in England’
stating the NHS should: “Place the
quality of patient care, especially
patient safety, above all other aims.”
We will engage with the new patient
safety collaborative being set up by NHS
England, and with the new systems for
reporting and learning from patient
safety incidents, to drive improvements
in practice and service delivery. In
particular the culture of reporting and
learning is key to this and the CCG will
continue to engage with providers to
achieve this aim.
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‘YOU SAID, WE DID’ - How patients and the public shape our health services

We put patients and the public
at the heart of our strategy and
decision making.
We listen to the local people we serve
and then respond: ‘You said, we did’.
This is done through:
• Our Community Engagement
Group - is a panel of patients who
meet every two months to provide
feedback on our work and policies;
to oversee the delivery of the CCG’s
community engagement and the
Equality and Diversity agenda; to work
with member practices to ensure
that information regarding choice is
co-ordinated. This group is a subcommittee of the CCG’s Governing
Body and also links with partner
organisation engagement groups.

It communicates updates to our public
membership;
• Our Health Forum - provides public
members with regular updates and
asks for feedback on service redesign
projects;
• Our three CCG locality groups are the local focus for CCG services.
With local patient participation
groups, district and town councils
and parish councils and other local
bodies, they work with us to develop
our plans;
• Our Patient Revolution events over 200 people attended the last
event in May 2013 and contributed
significantly to establish an agenda
of 40 issues which we have themed
and used to prioritise our work;
• Our road shows - the CCG has put
on a series of road shows in market
towns with staff and representatives
from providers keen to discuss local
services with communities. People
told us that this is best done by
going to the people in a public
location, which we did.

• Our new website - launched in
August 2013. It has a dedicated
section on public information and
also a section for Health Forum and
Community Engagement Group
members:
www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/
• Social media - our number of
Twitter (@nhswsccg) followers have
grown to over 700, with the launch
of a Facebook page in January
2014. Twitter especially is an area
used by younger people and an
area we are developing, such as
including a #SuffolkNHS stream for
organisations to share stories with
their followers.
• Our practice visits - we visit each
practice on a monthly basis to keep
in touch with local issues and provide
channels of communication between
patients, GPs and the Governing
Body.
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‘YOU SAID, WE DID’ - How patients and the public shape our health services

In 2013/14 we heard clear messages
from our public about:
• developing and engaging local
communities;
• working with the voluntary and
community sector;
• investing in mental health, children
and young people’s services;
• improving urgent and emergency care.
These are some examples of how we
have responded to those messages:

• Developed and engaged local
communities
- The new Sudbury Community Health
Centre will open in autumn 2014.
Local stakeholders and service staff
have been closely involved, under the
project management of our partners
NHS Property Services.

We have:
- worked with Suffolk County Council
to look in more detail at the specific
health needs of Haverhill. One of the
key findings from this work showed
that people living in the town were
not always aware of the range of
health services on offer. As a result,
the CCG worked with ONE Haverhill
and Haverhill Town Council to
produce an information leaflet about
all the health services in the town
and how to access them.
- set up a series of neighbourhood
teams in each of the three localities
in West Suffolk. These localities
are: Bury St Edmunds and the
surrounding area; Sudbury and
Haverhill; Newmarket and Forest
Heath district. These teams have
put local healthcare professionals
in touch with local voluntary and
community sector organisations with
a link to health. Following a series
of face-to-face meetings, healthcare
professionals have been supplied
with a local directory of services for
their area to ensure they are better
informed to refer patients to suitable
local services.

- developed a new information leaflet
about patient transport to clarify
who may be eligible and how to
access it. This went out to around
13,000 people with Age UK Suffolk’s
December newsletter.

• Worked with the voluntary
and community sector

- held meetings in public of our
Community Engagement Group in
towns across the area.

We have:

- worked to engage our black and
minority ethnic (BME) communities
by making links through some of the
Eastern European and Portuguese
shops and cafes in Bury St Edmunds
and Brandon; working with a large
factory in Bury St Edmunds that
employs a high number of local
migrant workers to include health
messages in their staff newsletter;
produced basic information about
the NHS in ten different languages;
had an article about keeping well
in winter published in a national
Portuguese newspaper.

- Our neighbourhood teams have the
voluntary and community sector at their
heart.

- invested in two Suffolk Family Carer
GP advisers for West Suffolk, who
have been working with GP practices
to help them identify family carers,
to appropriately support them, and
to signpost them to other helpful
organisations.
- invested in Age UK ‘Welcome Home’
service to support the smooth discharge
of patients from hospital.
- appointed a representative from Suffolk
Congress to sit on our Community
Engagement Group (CEG), to ensure
the work of the CEG is linked with the
local voluntary and community sector.
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‘YOU SAID, WE DID’ - How patients and the public shape our health services

• Invested in mental health,
children and young people’s
services
We have:
- commissioned a psychiatric liaison
service at West Suffolk Hospital to
ensure those patients with mental
health illnesses who arrive at the
Emergency Department, or are
admitted as inpatients, are treated
and assessed to ensure they receive
the help they need more quickly.
- invested in additional memory
capacity assessment services to
improve the early diagnosis of people
with dementia.
- invested in primary mental health
workers to support young people in
the community.
- funded a new autism services for
adults and young people. The new
services have ensured that the right
level of sensory, communication and
emotional adjustment can be made
for each patient and their needs are
fully met.

- commissioned an eating disorder
service for young people.
- funded nurses to support children
with asthma or epilepsy and their
families so they will to help manage
their condition with confidence.
- commissioned breast-feeding
coordinators at West Suffolk NHS
Hospital Foundation Trust.
• Improved urgent and
emergency care
We have:
- developed an urgent care plan with
our partners which is rated as an
‘exemplar’ model by NHS England.
- Invested in a number of schemes
to support the performance of the
Emergency Department of West
Suffolk NHS Hospital Foundation
Trust, such as the Early Intervention
Scheme which ensures early senior
clinical review of patients and timely
discharge from the hospital.

- commissioned more community
beds.
- invested in ambulance services,
such as the Hospital Ambulance
Liaison Officer which ensures the
timely handover of patients to
the hospital.
- worked with NHS Ipswich and
East Suffolk CCG and Suffolk
County Council on designing
a new urgent care system built
on what the public have
already told us. We will test
this with further engagement
during 2014.
- have delivered the
Accident & Emergency
4 hour maximum
waiting standard.
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OBJECTIVES

1. Patient safety and quality

2. Promoting healthy outcomes

In partnership with our member
practices, stakeholders and the public,
we set a series of objectives which aim
to improve the quality of care that our
patients received whilst, at the same
time, provide value for money. These
objectives are explained in more detail
over the coming pages.

Ensuring the services we commission
are safe and of a high quality is a key
priority for the CCG. We have fully
supported the recommendations of
the Francis report, and have embedded
a programme of structured visits to
review quality and patient safety.

The CCG works closely with Public
Health and Suffolk County Council on
a prevention programme designed to
improve health and wellbeing across West
Suffolk and reduce health inequalities.

It is also our intention to implement
the recommendations of ‘A promise to
learn - a commitment to act, improving
the safety of patients in England’,
which has been produced by the
National Advisory Group on the Safety
of Patients in England. This document
supports our wider aims by stating
that patients and their carers should be
present, powerful and involved at all
levels of healthcare organisations.

• improved access to alcohol and
substance misuse services by
introducing routine screening,
signposting and referral so that more
people can receive planned treatment
rather than reactive acute care;
• improved access to psychological
therapy and lower level mental
health support for those receiving
treatment for alcohol and substance
misuse, in turn increasing their
chances of recovery and improving
their quality of life;
• reduced ‘did not attend’ rates for
individuals referred for alcohol
or substance misuse from the
marginalised vulnerable adults
service;
• ensured that all patients were given
appropriate support to manage their
weight, and;
• obesity pathways and weight
management treatment services
were reviewed to improve the quality
of interventions.

They are:
1. Patient safety and quality
2. Promoting healthy outcomes
3. Integrated care
4. End of life (EoL)
5. Planned care
6. Medicines management
7. Mental health
8. Children, young people
and maternity
9. Cancer

The programme focusses on:

SUPPORT FOR CARERS
In 2013, we began a year-long
project to improve the quality of
support available to family carers
by helping GPs to identify those
who could benefit.
Two family carer advisers have
since been appointed to deliver
the project, which is being run
by Suffolk Family Carers. As a
result, some 93 new referrals
have been made since September
2013 compared to just 28 during
2012/13.
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3. Integrated care
Our aim is to encourage health, social
care and the voluntary sector to work
more closely together so that we can
reduce duplication and provide patients
with more joined-up services. As well
as improving patients’ experience of
urgent care, this will reduce emergency
admissions to hospital, length of stay in
hospital and the number of people who
are placed into long-term care.

To do this, we have started a
programme of work to:

• provide alternatives to long-term
home care placements.

• bring all elements of the health and
care system together to manage
more people away from crisis and
into planned interventions, including
self-management;

This change will take time, but work
is already well underway. Using the
strengths of working together, we have
already:

• ensure that emergency and urgent
care services are fully integrated and
patients can access them easily;
• improve the delivery of emergency
and urgent care through whole
system redesign;
• further prevent ill health through
interventions such as assistive
technology and community
development programmes which can
safely support people at home;
• share information across care
pathways;
• work with NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG to implement the stroke
specification for hyper acute stroke
care locally, including early supported
discharge;
• support frail people at home and
reduce their length of stay in acute
and community hospitals by further
developing community networks;

• developed a local directory of
services for every practitioner;
• set up integrated neighbourhood
teams which bring together mental
health, community services and
social care; and
• introduced comprehensive geriatric
assessment to support people with
complex care needs.

JOINING-UP CARE
Mrs Smith (posed by a model)
is fictional, but her story is
common. The 86-year-old has
been in hospital twice after falling
many times, and also has chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease
(COPD), which causes breathing
problems. Now out of hospital,
Mrs Smith gets home care twice
a day and a weekly visit from the
community matron, but remains
anxious and is struggling to cope.
She needs help, but is confused
about who to call so sits and
worries. Together with our health
and social care partners, we want
to move from this fragmented
service to a more coordinated
system which puts Mrs Smith
and her family at the centre. It
means she will receive the right
information, care or service, get
help before she reaches a crisis,
and access support and more
coordinated services.
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4. End of life (EoL)
Our aim is to develop and provide the
best possible services for palliative and
end of life care patients, allowing them
to be cared for in the place of their
choice. To do this, we have started to:
• support more people to spend their
last days in their preferred place;
• make sure end of life care is open
and accessible to everyone;
• develop and educate our workforce
using agreed training programmes;
• ensure an integrated crisis response
service is available 24/7;
We will further develop work
programmes during 2014/15 so they
can be fully embedded into everyday
clinical practice. This includes:
• achieving 95% end of life training
and education within care homes
and primary care by March 2015;
• introducing an electronic palliative
care coordination system, which is a
shared locality record for health and
social care professionals; and
• ensuring 95% of end of life patients
have an advanced care plan agreed.

INVOLVING CARE HOMES
Care homes have been more involved with our neighbourhood team work
and more joined-up working between care homes, clinical pharmacists, GPs
and other health professionals has been encouraged. There is also a project
to provide more training - covering areas such as pressure ulcer management,
dementia and falls prevention - and support to all West Suffolk care homes in
helping their patients get the best care and avoid going into hospital whenever
possible. By working together, it improves the quality of care for residents in
both residential and nursing homes and takes some of the pressure off our
emergency care providers.
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5. Planned care
Our aim is to make sure local
providers deliver the national waiting
time standards detailed in the NHS
Constitution, in turn helping make sure
patients have a positive experience when
using their local hospital.

•

•
To ensure that patients can receive the
right care in the right place at the right
time, we have worked to make sure that
services are local (wherever possible),
well integrated and provide appropriate
support to patients with long-term
conditions. Good communication
between providers is also essential
and patients should also be given the
opportunity to share in decisions about
their care.

•

•
•

To achieve these aims, we have:
• introduced and monitored the impact
of the newly developed pain pathway;
• developed further ophthalmology
services to refine referral and
developed community services for
conditions such as glaucoma and wet
age-related macular degeneration;
• provided GPs with a clinical
management service to reduce
the need for some patients to visit
hospital;
• developed community services for
carpal tunnel syndrome;

•
•

•

a common wrist problem and
reviewed opportunities to deliver
joint injections in the community;
reviewed and refreshed the diabetes
strategy and work with providers to
commission diabetic services in the
community following a successful
pilot in 2013/14;
reviewed community cardiology
services, especially for heart failure
patients;
reviewed community rehabilitation
services to ensure patients are
offered an effective, timely
and accessible multidisciplinary
pulmonary rehabilitation programme;
explored the development of a
community dermatology service for
launch in 2014/15;
worked with providers to explore
opportunities to embrace technology
to ensure better use of skill mix and
local pricing to deliver alternatives to
outpatient appointments;
developed a female continence
service within the community;
worked with providers to develop
clinically appropriate ‘one stop shops’
to reduce unnecessary appointments
and diagnostic procedures; and
progressed a major project to ensure
there is a consistent, evidencedbased, cost-effective commissioning
programme in place for the
implementation of all tariff-excluded
high cost drugs.

THE HIP AND KNEE ASSESSMENT SERVICE
Patients in our area suffering from hip and knee pain are benefiting from a
service that is focused on better patient outcomes. The hip and knee assessment
service, commissioned by the CCG, allows patients to be involved in choice on
the way they are treated, as well as delivering shorter waiting times. Instead of
being directly referred to West Suffolk Hospital, most patients will be referred
to a specialist service provided by senior physiotherapists where they are able to
discuss their treatment options and decide on the best course of action.
Patients can participate in group physiotherapy sessions which help them
understand their condition and enable them to improve their health and
lifestyle. Many patients find that these sessions give them the tools to manage
their pain and discomfort without the need to consider surgery.
When patients clearly need an operation they can still take part in this
programme prior to an operation which will help improve their overall outcome.
Since the service began in November 2012, more than 1,000 patients have
benefited from this new pathway.
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6. Medicines management

7. Mental health

Through this programme, we have
made safe changes in prescribing
which are appropriate and offered value
for money.

We want everyone who needs help
with a mental health issue or with a
learning disability to be able to access
high quality, effective services as and
when they need them, regardless of
their age, diagnosis and severity of their
condition.

This has included:
• encouraging safe, appropriate,
evidence-based and cost-effective
prescribing;
• promoting the same prescribing
recommendations across primary and
secondary care;
• promoting the traffic light system,
which has been developed by the
Suffolk CCGs Drug and Therapeutics
Committee and Clinical Priorities
Group to manage the introduction
of new drugs or new licensed
indications into practice;
• ensuring prescribing spends and
practice prescribing budgets are
aligned.

We have recognised that people’s
mental health should be seen as part
of their overall physical and mental
wellbeing and have commissioned
services which are integrated with the
wider health and social care system.
We have worked with NHS Ipswich and
East Suffolk CCG to ensure our mental
health provider, Norfolk and Suffolk
NHS Foundation Trust, recognises and
takes account of local differences so
that care can be prioritised to meet the
needs of patients. In West Suffolk, child
and adolescent mental health services
and dementia (CAMHS) are key areas
of focus.

PSYCHIATRIC LIAISON SERVICE
Although it is common for people who are in great mental distress to go to their
local hospital’s A&E department, they can sometimes wait longer for admission
or treatment. In response to this, Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust and
West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust have developed a new service for people
aged 18 and above to ensure they can access specialist help more quickly.
The psychiatric liaison service is a team of mental health liaison practitioners
who specialise in general psychiatry, deliberate self-harm, substance misuse
and old age psychiatry. They assess, treat, signpost or refer patients arriving
at the hospital’s front door so that their mental and physical health needs are
considered and treated together.
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8. Children, young people
and maternity

We have introduced a range of
initiatives, including:

Our aim is to promote early intervention
in the care and treatment of children
and young people, with professionals
working together to support the child
and the family to improve their mental
and physical health. As well as ensuring
they have a positive experience when
using these services, this will also
improve outcomes for some of our most
vulnerable groups, including looked after
children.

• promoting early intervention and
prevention;
• improving multi-agency working
based around the child and their
family;
• increasing the focus on self-care;
• continuing to monitor the
paediatrician-led GP telephone advice
line pilot at West Suffolk NHS Hospital
Foundation Trust, which began last
year;
• reviewing and developing children’s
speech and language services;

IMPROVEMENTS TO CHILDREN’S MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES

• setting out plans for an under-18
eating disorders service with Norfolk
and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust;
and

The CCG and Suffolk County Council employed more primary mental health
workers. This will enable the expansion of early intervention mental health
services and ensure children and young people with emotional and behavioural
issues can receive the appropriate treatment at the earliest identification of
need. Effective early intervention is clinically proven to reduce the deterioration
of mental health issues in children and young people. In the longer term this
could deliver better mental health and wellbeing in later life.

• commissioning an age-inclusive
diagnostic service for autism, focusing
on a current service gap which exists
for children aged between 11 and 18.

These additional primary mental health workers are aligned to specific GP
practices and work across the community to increase the number of mental
health assessments, improve the support given to these young people and their
families and deliver the right therapeutic treatment and care.
(Picture above posed by models).
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9. Cancer
Cancer is an illness which affects thousands of people every
year. We want to improve outcomes by making sure cancers
are diagnosed promptly, services are compliant with national
best practice outlined in the ‘improving outcomes’ guidance,
and care is accessible to everyone and delivered in the most
appropriate setting.
More specifically, we have worked to:
• support cancer survivors and improve survival rates;
• improve early diagnosis;
• provide up-to-date, high quality and personalised cancer
information which links with the shared decision making
process;
• provide cancer care closer to home;
• introduce a new operational framework to reduce
emergency cancer admissions by 10%;
• extend access to endoscopy to support the national
screening programme; and
• offer 95% of patients at the end of their treatment a place
on a free wellbeing programme.

CANCER CARE NURSE
FOR WEST SUFFOLK
This pilot project is designed to
give cancer patients extra help
to manage symptoms, while
also ensuring they can access
advice and information about
their condition and psychological
support during their cancer
journey. Jointly funded by
Macmillan Cancer Support and
the Anglia Cancer Network, the
initiative has been supported by
the CCG.

CHEMOTHERAPY
The CCG is passionate about
making sure there are measures
in place to avoid serious illness in
people receiving chemotherapy
by ensuring anyone who visits
the emergency department with
neutropenic sepsis is seen and
treated as quickly as possible.
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ACHIEVEMENTS
This is a summary of our
best achievements, which
have improved health
services for the people of
West Suffolk.

We set up new
echocardiogram
services in Haverhill
and Newmarket.
You can view
all of the
NHS booklets
currently
available here:
http://www.
westsuffolkccg.
nhs.uk/yourhealth/leafletsand-publications/

We produced a series
of booklets to help
people look after
themselves and their
loved ones better.

We invested in
diabetes nurses in
Newmarket and
Forest Heath district.

We supported a
successful bid
to bring £425,000 into
West Suffolk to deliver
a physical activity
project aimed at
improving people’s
health and wellbeing.

CCG
Achievements

We began trialling
a new service in Sudbury
to make it easier for older
people to navigate the
health and social care
system with the help of
a care coordinator.

We supported a
project to give cancer
patients extra help to manage
symptoms in Sudbury, give
advice and information
Working in
on their condition and
partnership with
psychological support
Healthwatch Suffolk,
during their cancer
we carried out an
journey.
engagement exercise
to shape a new early
supported discharge
service for stroke
patients.

Read more in
the December
2013 issue of our
newsletter here:
http://www.
westsuffolkccg.
nhs.uk/wpcontent/
uploads/2013/12/
News-fromWSCCGDecember-2013.
pdf
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PERFORMANCE

NHS Outcomes Framework

Our performance against the
key NHS Outcomes Framework
measures and the NHS Constitution
measures is set out as follows.

Our latest performance against the
key indicators of the NHS Outcomes
Framework is summarised (right). This
is based on national data collections
and generally relates to performance in
2012/13.

Indicator

Spine Chart

Outcomes - domain 1
Potential Years of Life Lost amenable
to healthcare - female
Potential Years of Life Lost amenable
to healthcare - male
Under 75 Mortality from CVD
Under 75 Mortality from respiratory disease
Emergency admissions for alcohol related liver disease

West Suffolk CCG is shown as a blue
circle. The yellow box shows the
interquartile range and the black line
is the England median. We performed
better than the national average in
all but three of the measures of the
Outcomes Framework. We continue to
work with Public Health and providers
to understand those areas where the
CCG is below the national average,
and to identify opportunities for
performance improvement, using local
data where available.
For example, local data around patient
experience of the GP out of hours
service, based on a Healthwatch
Suffolk survey, showed that 87%
of service users were very satisfied/
satisfied with the service they received.
In addition, latest data indicates that
67% of users would be extremely likely
to recommend the service to family/
friends.

Under 75 Mortality from cancer
Outcomes - domain 2
% of patients with LTCs who feel supported
Unplanned admissions chronic ACS conditions
Unplanned hospitalisation for asthma,
diabetes and epilepsy in under 19s
Outcomes - domain 3
Emergency admissions for acute conditions
that should not normally require hospital admission
Emergency readmissions within 30 days
of discharge from hospital
Hip replacement casemix adjusted health gain
Knee replacement casemix adjusted health gain
Groin hernia casemix adjusted health gain
Emergency admissions for children with lower
respiratory tract infections
Outcomes - domain 4
Patient experience of GP out-of-hours services
Outcomes - domain 5
Incidence of healthcare-associated infection - C.Difficile
Incidence of healthcare-associated infection - MRSA
NHS West Suffolk CCHG
Worse outcomes

England Median

Interquartile range

Region Mean
Better outcomes
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Securing additional years of life for
people with treatable mental and
physical health conditions

Potential years of life lost (per 100,000 population)
National Comparison

Reducing premature mortality is one of
the overarching aims of the NHS. We
will have the most significant impact
in reducing premature mortality by
determining which contributing factors
are of greatest impact to the local
population. This analysis will continue
to be undertaken jointly with Public
Health.
We are committed to increasing
additional years of life for local people.
This will be measured through a
reduction in potential years of life lost
from causes considered amenable to
healthcare i.e. those causes from which
premature death should not occur in
the presence of timely and effective
healthcare (generally relating to deaths
in those aged under 75).
The CCG (shown in orange) currently
performs significantly better than CCGs
across England. However, comparative
performance against CCGs within
East Anglia shows an opportunity for
improvement.

Potential years of life lost (per 100,000 population)
East Anglia Comparison
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Improving health-related quality
of life for people with long term
conditions, including mental health

Average health score (out of 100) for people with long term conditions
National Comparison

Increasing the quality of life for those
people with long-term conditions is a
priority within the Health and Wellbeing
Board strategy, and reflected in the
CCG’s clinical priorities. Performance
is measured through the national GP
Patient Survey, based on the numbers
of patients reporting they have a long
term condition, together with indicators
around the quality of life for such
patients.
The CCG’s performance (shown in
orange) is in top quintile nationally and
one of the best against CCGs within
East Anglia.
As part of the CCG’s strategy to
integrate health and social care, there
will be a priority focus on supporting
the health and independence of
individuals. This will focus on care
for frail, elderly, people with learning
disabilities and those living with single
or multiple chronic long term conditions
(including mental health conditions)
to ensure care and support is driven
towards improving the quality of life for
such people.

Average health score (out of 100) for people with long term conditions
East Anglia Comparison
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Reducing the amount of time people
spend in hospital by having better
more integrated care in community

Avoidable emergency admissions (per 100,000 population)
National Comparison

Reducing the amount of time people
spend in hospital relies on good
management of long-term conditions
across the health and care system
to support people in managing long
term conditions and to promote swift
recovery and supporting them to live
independently - called reablement after acute illness.
The CCG’s performance (orange) for
the number of avoidable emergency
admissions is around the national
average, but is comparatively higher
than other CCGs within East Anglia;
This is based on a composite measure
of:
• emergency admissions for acute
conditions that should not usually
require hospital admission (adults);
• unplanned hospitalisation for chronic
ambulatory care sensitive conditions
(adults);
• unplanned hospitalisation for
asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in
children;
• emergency admissions for children
with lower respiratory tract infection.

Avoidable emergency admissions (per 100,000 population)
East Anglia Comparison
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Increasing the number of people
with physical and mental health
conditions who have a positive
experience of hospital care; and,
positive experience of care outside
of hospital, in General Practice and
in the community

Average number of patients reporting ‘a poor experience of hospital care’ (per 100 patients)
National Comparison

The CCG encourages feedback and
values the role of patients in shaping,
monitoring and improving services.
A key focus of this is the reporting and
monitoring of the measures relating to
patient experience.
Patient experience metrics are
triangulated with other quality
indicators such as patient safety
reporting and are reviewed
contractually for all commissioned
providers, identifying trends and
themes which are then acted upon.
Current performance shows that the
CCG has comparatively low levels of
patients reporting a ‘poor’ experience
of the care they receive both in and
outside of hospital.

Average number of patients reporting ‘a poor experience of general practice and out of hours care’ (per 100 patients)
East Anglia Comparison
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NHS Constitution
Our performance against the key measures within the NHS Constitution is set out below. Performance against the full suite of key performance indicators can be found in the
Integrated Performance Report presented to the Governing Body, (page 148) and can be found here: http://www.suffolkextranet.nhs.uk/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=UJyP2dd4NKw
%3d&tabid=2554&mid=5275
Indicator
Ref

Description

Target

Year End

REFERRAL TO TREATMENT WAITING TIMES FOR NON-URGENT CONSULTANT-LED TREATMENT
CB_B1

Percentage of admitted pathways within 18 weeks for admitted patients whose clocks stopped during the period on an adjusted basis

90%

96.1%

CB_B2

Percentage of non-admitted pathways within 18 weeks for non-admitted patients whose clocks stopped during the period

95%

98.8%

CB_B3

Percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete pathways at the end of the period

92%

98.6%

Percentage of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test (15 key diagnostic tests) at the end of the period

1%

1.5%

Percentage of patients who spent 4 hours or less in A&E

95%

95.3%

DIAGNOSTIC TEST WAITING TIMES
CB_B4
A&E WAITS
CB_B5

CANCER WAITS - 2 WEEK WAIT
CB_B6

Percentage of patients seen within two weeks of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer

93%

97.1%

CB_B7

Percentage of patients seen within two weeks of an urgent referral for breast symptoms where cancer was not initially suspected

93%

98.0%
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Indicator
Ref

Description

Target

Year End

CANCER WAITS - 31 DAY STANDARDS
CB_B8

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment within one month of a cancer diagnosis

96%

99.0%

CB_B9

Percentage of patients receiving subsequent surgery within a maximum waiting time of 31 days

94%

99.3%

CB_B10

Percentage of patients receiving a subsequent/adjuvant anti-cancer drug regime within a maximum waiting time of 31 days

98%

100.0%

CB_B11

Percentage of patients receiving a subsequent/adjuvant radiotherapy within a maximum waiting time of 31 days

94%

98.1%

REFERRAL
TO TREATMENT
WAITING TIMES FOR NON-URGENT CONSULTANT-LED TREATMENT
CANCER WAITS
- 62 DAY STANDARDS
CB_B12

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within two months (62 days) of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer

85%

86.9%

CB_B13

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62 days of referral from an NHS Cancer Screening Service

90%

95.7%

CB_B14

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62 days of a consultant decision to upgrade their priority status

92.1%

88.9%

CATEGORY A AMBULANCE CALLS
CB_B15_01

Category A (Red 1-most time critical) 8 minute response time to immediately life-threatening ambulance calls

75%

68.5%

CB_B15_02

Category A (Red 2-less time critical) 8 minute response time to immediately life-threatening ambulance calls

75%

62.4%

Category A 19 minute response time to possible immediate life-threatening ambulance calls

95%

84.7%

CB_B16
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Indicator
Ref

Description

Target

Year End

0

7

0

2

95%

94.8%

MIXED SEX ACCOMMODATION
CB_B17

Number of Mixed Sex Accommodation (MSA) breaches

CANCELLED OPERATIONS
Number of patients who had operations cancelled, on or after the day of admission (inc day of surgery) for non-clinical reasons, who were not offered
CB_B18
another binding date in 28 days (or the patients treatment funded at the time or hospital of the patient’s choice)
MENTAL HEALTH
CB_B19

Care Programme Approach (CPA) - Percentage of those patients on CPA discharged from inpatient care who were followed up within 7 days
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Financial performance

Investment Expenditure

We delivered our key statutory and
administrative financial duties during
the financial year ending 31 March
2014 with a year-end surplus of £2.6m
on an overall budget of £273.3m.
Financial performance targets can be
found on page 121.

During the year, we spent £2.3m on
non-recurrent transformation projects
with a significant number of schemes
focussing on relieving pressures over
winter and ensuring that the health
economy was able to meet its nationally
mandated access targets. In addition, we
spent £292k on a number of recurrent
investments aimed at delivering a higher
quality care and outcomes for the
residents of West Suffolk.

We successfully implemented a number
of Quality, Innovation, Productivity
and Prevention (QIPP) initiatives to
address growth, improve quality and
support delivery of nationally mandated
performance targets.
Growth in activity at West Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust continued to be a
major risk during 2013/14. We had to
absorb significant costs relating to an
increase in the number and complexity
of current Continuing Healthcare cases
and an increase in prescribing spend
due to national drugs shortages on
certain drugs.
We delivered the required surplus
through investment phasing, use of
contingency funding and the successful
implementation of a number of QIPP
initiatives. Continuing Healthcare and
prescribing spends are likely to be ongoing financial pressures and a significant
amount of work is being undertaken to
minimise the future impact.

We are currently reviewing the planned
investments for 2014/15 and while
detailed business cases are being
developed, we will be focusing on
improving quality over a number
of areas including Early Supported
Discharge for stroke patients and a
significant investment to support help
reduce avoidable admissions into
hospital, and the care of patients aged
over 75 years old.
Resources, principal risks and
uncertainties and relationships
that may affect the CCG’s long term
performance
Resources
Our Revenue Resource Limit (RRL) for
the year ended 31 March 2014 was
£273.3m. The value of the initial RRL

was based upon weighted capitation
formula. This formula takes into
account the population served by the
CCG amended for factors including
age, need and market forces.
As a result of the national allocations
review carried out by NHS England,
West Suffolk CCG was deemed to be
over funded and as a result will receive
smaller increases in RRL in future years.
For further information about financial
resourcing please visit: http://www.
suffolkextranet.nhs.uk/LinkClick.aspx?fil
eticket=UJyP2dd4NKw%3d&tabid=255
4&mid=5275
Risks and uncertainties
The Governing Body Assurance
Framework (GBAF) provides us with a
comprehensive method for managing
risk allowing the Governing Body to
gain assurance from the Chief Officers
that all risks are being managed.
The GBAF identifies which strategic
goals may be at risk because of
inadequacies in the operation of
controls, or where we have insufficient
assurance. It covers the control of
risk, provides structured assurances
about where risks are being managed
and ensures that objectives are being
delivered. This allows the Governing
Body members to make the most

efficient use of resources and address
the issues identified to continuously
improve the quality and safety of
healthcare commissioning.
To ensure consistency in the risk
assessment process, the likelihood
and consequences of all risks on our
Risk Register are assessed against an
agreed 5x5 risk matrix. Those scoring
15 and above migrate to the GBAF and
thereby inform the Governing Body
agenda. The risk matrix and subsequent
red, amber, green (RAG) score identify
the level at which identified risks will
be managed within the organisation.
It also assigns priorities for remedial
action and determines whether risks
are to be accepted on the basis of the
colour bandings and risk ratings. In
evaluating effectiveness, the RAG rating
system is also used to present how well
the agreed controls are operating.
A summary of the key strategic risks
affecting our work during the course
of 2013/14 and the actions taken to
eliminate or mitigate are detailed in
Section 2 - Governance Statement.

NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14
Page 32

Significant relationships that may affect the CCG’s long term performance
• We are a member of the Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Board, which brings
together key stakeholders across Suffolk to oversee the delivery of the county’s
health and wellbeing strategy;
• We are a member of the Suffolk System Leadership Partnership, bringing together
executive leaders from health and social care to drive the Suffolk health and care
review;
• We lead the local urgent care network which oversees urgent care performance in
West Suffolk;
• We work with local people in various ways, including its community engagement
group and patient revolution events;
• We are a key member of a number of local stakeholder forums in West Suffolk,
such as the West Suffolk Partnership and ONE Haverhill board;
• We convene regular GP locality meetings for its member practices;
• We lead a clinical liaison group meeting with clinicians from West Suffolk Hospital;
• We are a part of various NHS England forums, such as the Quality Surveillance
Group.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
We are aware of our responsibilities
to meet Department of Health
sustainability targets over the
forthcoming years.
In 2013/14 we will focus more in this
area. It has not been one of our most
pressing priorities in our first year of
operation.
We have enrolled as a good corporate
citizen with the NHS Sustainable
Development Unit to help us meet our
obligations under the Climate Change
Act 2012 to reduce our carbon dioxide
emissions by 20% by 2020. To achieve
this, we have developed a number of
initiatives, including:
• promotion of our cycle to work
scheme;
• using technology to reduce business
miles;
• using tablet devices to share
documents, in turn reducing the
number of papers which need
printing and the associated costs;
• ethical procurement; and
• sourcing catering materials from
local producers.

Work to reduce our emissions further
will continue during the coming year,
while we will also look for ways to
further reduce the wider environmental
and social impacts associated with the
procurement of goods and services.
We will also continue to meet our
statutory duty to assess the risks posed
by climate change and the affect
it will have on service delivery and
infrastructure in the future.
In line with expectations laid down by
the NHS Sustainable Development Unit,
we have an up–to-date sustainable
development management plan and
sustainable commissioning framework
in place. This helps us ensure that we
fulfil our commitment to conducting
all aspects of our activities with due
consideration to sustainability. We
recognise there is work to do to
improve upon our plans and actions for
the next year.
Dr Christopher Browning is the boardlevel lead for sustainability, and ensures
that sustainability issues have visibility
and ownership at the highest level
within the CCG.

Sustainability aspects are included in the
job descriptions of all of our staff, and
we took part in sustainability awareness
week in October to raise awareness
of the importance of reducing carbon
emissions and the impact it can have on
reducing costs.
NHS Property Services is our strategic
partner for managing and developing
properties.

Our responsibilities are to ensure that
our contractors have sustainability
targets and plans built in to the way
in which they operate and provide
services. NHS Property Services has
a separate responsibility for property
related sustainability, which it reports
directly to government.
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EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY REPORT
We want to ensure we are an equal,
fair and diverse employer which offers
everyone equal access to services.
Our full equality reports can be found
here: http://www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.
uk/about-us/equality-diversity/
To do this, we use the updated NHS
equality delivery system, called EDS2,
to help plan our work on equality
and diversity so that we meet our
requirements under the Equality Act
2010 and public sector equality duty.
We also review our performance on
equality and diversity across the CCG
and within the wider health services.
Equality objectives
Through consulting with our staff and
the community we serve about equality
and diversity, we have developed four
objectives:
• make sure patients and carers
experience joined-up healthcare and
can the right services at the right time;
• improve use of equality data and
information about West Suffolk’s
diverse population to inform our
work;

• improve the way that our Governing
Body and executive learn from the
healthcare experiences of diverse and
marginalised individuals, groups and
carers; and

information about our patients
and staff to help inform our work.
You can find out more here: www.
westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/about-us/
equality-diversity

• ensure that senior leaders and
other managers provide leadership,
support and motivation for their staff
to uphold our value of equality of
opportunity to improve the health of
those most in need.

Throughout the development of our
equality objectives and the associated
action plan, we have consulted widely
with individuals and organisations
which represent diverse groups
within our community. This includes
Healthwatch Suffolk’s black and
minority ethnic and diversity subgroup,
the Suffolk lesbian, gay, bisexual and
transgender advisory group, the Suffolk
joint diversity working group, the Gypsy
and Traveller health subgroup and the
Suffolk disability and health action
group. We also involved our community
engagement group, which includes
members from a diverse age range.
Dialogue with these groups is ongoing,
with meetings every few months to
ensure we continue to feed their voices
into our work.

We have developed an action plan
to show how we will deliver these
objectives, available at:
www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2013/02/WSCCGEDS-Action-Plan-2014-15.pdf and will
review progress against these objectives
at least once a year.
Meeting our equality duties
We have prepared an equality and
diversity strategy which details our
approach to meeting the requirements
of the Equality Act 2010 and the public
sector equality duty. This includes
systems to make sure the development
of policies, service specifications and
the commissioning process itself
promotes equality, encourages good
relations and eliminates discrimination.
In January 2014, we published equality

We have also engaged with the wider
diverse community by attending a
variety of events such as the Indian
Mela, Suffolk Pride and student events
at West Suffolk College. Working
with Suffolk’s young people’s health
ambassador, we also plan to hold a
series of youth engagement events to
raise awareness about the services on

offer to young people in the area.
We will continue to work with our
main healthcare providers on equality
and diversity to make sure that access
for minority groups is improved. This
will include, for example, reviewing
our processes to ensure any issues are
picked up at the earliest stage and
that providers have interpreting and
translation services in place. One example
of some recent work done to make
services more accessible to our migrant
communities has included producing
basic information about how to access
health services in ten different languages.
This information has been distributed
through local eastern European and
Portuguese shops and cafes, as well as
libraries and employment agencies across
West Suffolk.
During the coming year, we will also
roll out our marginalised and vulnerable
adults service into West Suffolk. This
will help make sure homeless people,
refugees and asylum seekers, migrant
workers, ex-offenders, Gypsies and
Travellers and black and minority
ethnic communities can access primary
care services. As well as helping these
groups into the health system by
registering them with a GP, the service
will provide some outreach healthcare
while also using interpreting services to
ensure it is accessible to people whose
first language is not English.
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This section sets out details of the member
practices of the CCG, together with the
composition of each of the Membership Bodies.
The CCG is pleased to present this report which reflects
on the significant progress the CCG has made in
addressing the health priorities of the local community,
while delivering financial balance and meeting most
of the performance targets set out within the NHS
Constitution.
The CCG has developed its own distinctive ambition
and underpinning priorities which will provide a local
approach for delivery of the Health and Wellbeing
Strategy. At the heart of this ambition is the view
that greater integrated working with stakeholders,
partners and communities is the primary vehicle to
improve the quality of those services locally. Supporting
delivery of the CCG’s ambition are six clinical priorities,
which have been aligned to both national and local
frameworks:
• Develop clinical leadership
• Demonstrate excellence in patient experience and
patient engagement
• Improve the health and care of older people
• Improve access to mental health services
• Improve health and wellbeing through partnership
working
• Deliver financial sustainability through quality
improvement
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The Strategic Report sets out how these priorities
have supported delivery of the highest quality of
health services in West Suffolk through our work
with patients and stakeholders. During the year, we
have worked hard to engage with our local patients,
listening to their feedback and responding to their
healthcare needs. The Strategic Report details how the
CCG has responded to patients in the “You Said…
We Did”, whilst also setting out the delivery of the key
financial and performance targets.
For the register of interests please see page 52.
List of member practices

Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall
Mount Farm Surgery, Bury St Edmunds
Oakfield Surgery, Newmarket
Orchard House Surgery, Newmarket
The Rookery Medical Centre, Newmarket
Siam Surgery, Sudbury
Stourview Medical Centre, Haverhill
Swan Surgery, Bury St Edmunds
White House Surgery, Mildenhall
Victoria Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Angel Hill General Practice, Bury St Edmunds

Wickhambrook Surgery

Avicenna, Hopton

Woolpit Health Centre, Woolpit

Botesdale Health Centre, Botesdale
Brandon Medical Practice
Christmas Maltings Surgery, Haverhill
Clements & Christmas Maltings Surgery, Haverhill
Forest Surgery, Brandon
Glemsford Surgery, Glemsford
Guildhall Surgery, Bury St Edmunds
Guildhall and Barrow Surgery, Bury St Edmunds
Hardwicke House Group Practice, Sudbury
Lakenheath Surgery
The Long Melford Practice
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Governing Body Membership
Dr Christopher Browning (Chair)
Julian Herbert (Chief Officer)
Dr Ed Garratt (Chief Operating Officer)
Dr Simon Arthur (GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath)
Bill Banks (Lay member - Governance)
David Cripps (Practice Manager Lead)
Dr Emma Derbyshire (GP and Joint Lead
for Bury St Edmunds)
Dr Jon Ferdinand (GP and Joint Lead
for Bury St Edmunds)
Johanna Finn (Lay member Public and Patient Engagement)
Carl Goulton (Chief Finance Officer)
Dr Crawford Jamieson (Secondary Care Doctor)
Peter Knights (Practice Manager Lead)
Amanda Lyes (Chief Corporate Services Officer)
Barbara McLean (Chief Nursing Officer)
Dr Rakesh Raja (GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury)
Dr Giles Stevens (GP and Lead for Haverhill)
Dr Rosalind Tandy (GP and Joint Lead
for Bury St Edmunds)
Wendy Tankard (Chief Contracts Officer)
Dr Andy Yager (GP and Lead for Blackbourne)

Governing Body membership is composed of 13 men
and 6 women.
Profiles of members of the Governing Body are detailed
within the Remuneration Report.
Anne Nicholls (Chair of the Community
Engagement Group) attends the Governing Body
meetings further strengthening public involvement.
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Executive Committee Membership

Remunerations & HR Committee Membership

Community Engagement Group Membership

Name

Organisation

Bill Banks (Chair) Johanna Finn

Anne Nicholls (Chair)

Dr Christopher Browning

Chair/WSCCG

Reserve - Dr Christopher Browning

Julian Herbert

WSCCG (Shared Post)

Dr Ed Garratt

WSCCG

All of the above have been members since
commencement of the CCG in April 2013.

Johanna Finn (Lay member - Patient and Public
Engagement)

Dr Simon Arthur

WSCCG

Bill Banks

Lay Member

David Cripps

WSCCG

Dr Emma Derbyshire

WSCCG

Dr Jon Ferdinand

WSCCG

Johanna Finn

Lay Member

Carl Goulton

WSCCG (Shared Post)

Dr Crawford Jamieson

Secondary Care Doctor

Dr David Kanka

Suffolk County Council

Peter Knights

WSCCG

Amanda Lyes

WSCCG (Shared Post)

Barbara McLean

WSCCG (Shared Post)

Dr Rakesh Raja

WSCCG

Dr Giles Stevens

WSCCG

Dr Rosalind Tandy

WSCCG

Wendy Tankard

WSCCG (Shared Post)

Dr Andrew Yager

WSCCG

Audit Committee Membership

Dr Ed Garratt (Chief Operating Officer)
Roy Banks
Megan Benson

Bill Banks Peter Knights

Carol Dalton

Reserve - David Cripps

David Dawson, Suffolk Congress
Louis Gooden

The following are in attendance at the Audit
Committee

Warwick Hirst
Mike Hope

•
•
•
•

Representative from Finance
Representatives from External Audit
Representative from Internal Audit
Representative from Counter Fraud

CCG Collaborative Group Membership

Carol Mansell
Elizabeth McLoughlin
Bob Mynn
Jon Rapley
Michael Simpkin

Martin Smith (Independent Chair)
Dr Christopher Browning
Bill Banks
Julian Herbert
Graham Leaf (Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG)
Dr Mark Shenton (Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG)

Claire Suddaby
Karen Turner (Healthwatch Suffolk)
Philip Worsley
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Pension liabilities
Details of the pension scheme and how
liabilities are presented are included
within the accounting policies note of
the annual accounts with additional
information included as part of the
Remuneration Report.
Sickness absence data
The CCG’s sickness absence rates are
set out in the following table:

2013/14
West Suffolk
CCG

Chief Operating Office, West Suffolk CCG
Chief Redesign Office, West Suffolk CCG
Overall rate

4.26%
0.81%
2.99%

Management
Delivery Team

Chief Corporate Services Office
Chief Finance Office
Chief Nursing Office
Communications & External Relations
Office of the Accountable Officer
Overall rate

1.12%
0.85%
1.22%
0.12%
0.36%
1.02%

The sickness absence rate for the CCG stands at 2.99%, which is above its target of 2%. Sickness absence
rates within the Management Delivery Team that supports the CCG stands at 1.02%.
The top three reasons for absence are colds, coughs and flu, gastrointestinal problems and headache and
migraines.
Over the year return to work interviews and early referral to occupational health by line managers have
helped reduce and manage the level of sickness absence. We offered all of our staff the chance to have
a flu jab and go to stop smoking sessions run by Suffolk occupational health, and have organised stress
workshops and provide toolkits to help them manage stress effectively. We also offer walking clubs and cycle
to work schemes, and work with the So-Active social enterprise to promote wellbeing within the workplace.
We are always looking for ways in which we could improve further, and regularly review the proactive steps
we take to support staff with their health and wellbeing during a quarterly meeting with our occupational
health advisers.
Future plans include the re-launch of our health and wellbeing group, whose role will be to promote cancer
awareness campaigns, national no smoking day and other national initiatives.
Further information is included with note 4.3 of the financial statement.
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External audit
The CCG is audited by Ernst and Young,
whose work cost £86,400 during
2013/14. Work undertaken was purely
in the provision of statutory audit
services.
The Audit Commission gave the CCG
a one-off rebate of £7,200 during
2013/14 to reduce the total cost of
external audit to £79,200.
Disclosure of “serious untoward
incidents”
No serious untoward incidents have
occurred. Details of any incidents
involving data loss or confidentiality
breaches, if applicable, are included
within the Governance Statement.
Cost allocation and setting of
charges for information
We certify that NHS West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group has complied
with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost
allocation and the setting of charges for
information.
Principles for remedy
The Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman has issued six Principles
for Remedy when handling complaints.

These principles set out for complainants
and bodies within the Parliamentary
and Health Ombudsman’s jurisdiction
how they think public bodies should
put things right when they have gone
wrong - as well as its approach to
recommending remedies.
The Principles for Remedy are:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Getting it right
Being customer focused
Being open and accountable
Acting fairly and proportionately
Putting things right
Seeking continuous improvement

We encourage feedback and value
the role of patients and healthcare
professionals in shaping, monitoring and
improving services.
We will continue to report, monitor
and provide feedback regarding
concerns raised by the public and other
agencies. Patient stories are shared at
all levels of the organisation to illustrate
patient experience and to determine
commissioning intentions.
We provide a framework and training
to support involvement of members, lay
personnel, GP practices and patients in
quality assurance processes e.g. mystery
shoppers and involvement in quality
improvement visits. In addition, we

involve Patient Advisory Groups, patient
reference groups and other community
groups to support patient experience
feedback.
Quality dashboard reporting will assure
each provider is performing against
agreed metrics. Patient experience
metrics will be triangulated with other
quality indicators such as patient safety
reporting and will have a high profile
through quality sub group meetings for
each contracted provider.
Safeguarding remains a priority for us;
ensuring compliance against legislation
and national and locally agreed policies.
A Safeguarding dashboard will provide
assurance that reporting thresholds are
robust, investigations are transparent
and ensure learning is continuous to
ensure the vulnerable achieve the best
possible care and robust information
sharing processes are in place providing
a seamless transition between services.
Patient experience metrics are reviewed
contractually for all commissioned
providers identifying trends and themes
of the complaint and whether there
are month on month improvements.
Evidence is provided through ward to
board that complaints and patient voices
remain an integral part of business.

It is always disappointing when a
patient feels the care or service they
have received has fallen below the
high standards they expect. When this
happens, an investigation is carried
out so that we can find out exactly
what happened and make further
improvements wherever necessary.
Our patient experience team manages
complaints about the health services we
commission, while complaints about
primary care services, such as GPs,
dentists, pharmacists and opticians,
are passed onto NHS England for
investigation.
During 2013/14, we received a total of
115 complaints, 34 of which related
to the CCG and the services we
commission. The remaining 81 related
to primary care and were sent to NHS
England.
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Patients Advice and Liaison Service
(PALS)
PALS provides information and advice
on NHS services, such as GPs and dental
practices, pharmacies and opticians in
our area. We also deal with questions
about our provider organisations, like
Harmoni and Serco Suffolk Community
Healthcare. The services has been the
front line communication for new
contractors. It is also responsible for
the running of the Emergency Dental
Line for Suffolk, referring patients to
duty NHS dentists on a ‘first come, first
served’ basis each weekday in Ipswich
and Bury St Edmunds. The services acts
as the appeals process for free nonurgent hospital transport for those with
a clinical need provided by the Patients
Transport Clinical Assessment and
Advices Service (PTCAAS).

Number of PALS enquiries
Dental

1,011

Transport

92

GP Query

57

Miscellaneous

45

Prisons

39

Meds/Pharmacy

28

Acute

18

Podiatry

16

Optical

10

Med Cert/Recs

7

Physiotherapy

7

Community Hospitals

6

PALS - other area

6

Continence

5

Mental Health

5

Equipment

4

Child Weight Management

3

Funding

3

Continuing Care

2

Out of Hours

0

SCR

0

Screening Breast/Bowel/Cervical

0

Employee consultation

Equality

We have developed robust
arrangements with our trade unions
on effective employee engagement,
and consult and negotiate with them
formally every two months. The results
of these discussions are then cascaded
to all staff as appropriate. In addition,
we have established a staff partnership
forum, which was nationally recognised
when it was shortlisted as a finalist in
the 2013 Health Service Journal awards.

We are committed to offering equality
of opportunity in all that we do,
including the recruitment and selection
of our workforce. We hold the ‘Positive
about Disability’ symbol, along with
a gold ‘Investors in People’ national
award.

We keep our staff informed about
their employment and the CCG’s wider
activities through a variety of methods,
including:
• regular one-to-one meetings with
their manager, during which they are
encouraged to table any concerns or
issues;
• monthly team briefings, which are
led by the chief officer and give
staff the chance to ask questions,
anonymously if necessary;
• weekly electronic newsletters; and
• via the intranet, where details of
the CCG’s performance are updated
monthly.
All matters concerning staff are also
discussed by the remuneration and HR
committee and the staff partnership
forum.

We have a robust recruitment and
selection policy in place which explicitly
illustrates the steps which managers
need to take if an applicant declares
themselves as disabled. We also take
reasonable steps to make sure all
disabled applicants are treated fairly,
which includes making adjustments
to interviewing venue, selection
and aptitude tests where necessary.
Occupational health advice and support
is offered to all staff and specialist
advice is taken for any disabled
employee or an employee who then
becomes disabled at work.
Our staff are all appraised annually,
and equality of opportunity is always
considered when their personal
development plans are put together.
We also regularly report on our equal
opportunity key performance indicators
to the remuneration and HR committee.
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Emergency preparedness,
resilience and response
We certify that NHS West Suffolk
Clinical Commissioning Group has
incident response plans in place,
which are fully compliant with the
NHS Commissioning Board Emergency
Preparedness Framework 2013. The
clinical commissioning group regularly
reviews and makes improvements
to its major incident plan and has a
programme for regularly testing this
plan, the results of which are reported
to the Governing Body.
Statement as to Disclosure
to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of
the Governing Body at the time the
Members’ Report is approved confirms:
• So far as the member is aware, there
is no relevant audit information of
which the clinical commissioning
group’s external auditor is unaware;
and
• that the member has taken all the
steps that they ought to have taken
as a member in order to make
themself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that
the clinical commissioning group’s
auditor is aware of that information.

Disclosure: legacy balance transfers
In accordance with the Health and
Social Care Act 2012, Strategic Health
Authorities and Primary Care Trusts
were dissolved on 1 April 2013 and
their assets and liabilities transferred to
successor bodies in the NHS or to other
entities. Under the terms of the legacy
organisations Property Transfer Scheme
and its supporting Schedules, a number
of assets and liabilities were transferred
from Suffolk PCT to West Suffolk CCG
on that date. None of these were
significant in value.
These assets and liabilities are
associated with the transfer of
corporate functions.
The accounting arrangements in respect
of these transfers are outlined in Note
1.4 to the Annual Accounts.

----------------------------------------------------------------

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
5 June 2014
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Policy on remuneration of
senior managers

Senior Managers Service Contracts

The policy for the remuneration of
senior managers was operated in
accordance with Agenda for Change
and it is intended to continue with this
policy for future years. The pay for both
the Chief Officer and the Chief Finance
Officer was in accordance with recently
published national guidance.

Name
Date of Contract
Notice Period
Provision for
			Early Termination
			
Julian Herbert
1 October 2006
Six months
None
Chief Officer
			
			
Carl Goulton
3 December 2012
Six months
None
Chief Finance Officer
		
			
Barbara McLean
8 May 2012
Six months
None
Chief Nursing Officer
		
			
Amanda Lyes
1 April 2012
Six months
None
Chief Corporate Services Officer
			

The remainder of the senior managers
are paid on the VSM (Very Senior
Manager) grade. All salaries having
been nationally benchmarked.
Senior Managers’ PerformanceRelated Pay
There is no element of pay that is
performance related.
Policy on Senior Managers’
Contracts
All staff including senior managers
(up to and including Band 9) follow
the national terms and conditions of
service pertaining to notice periods.
The maximum period of notice under
Agenda for Change is 3 months. Chief
Officers are appointed in accordance
with the VSM framework and have a
notice period built into their contract
of employment of six months.

Jon Reynolds
Interim Chief
Contracts Officer

3 October 2005 Three months
(29 April 2013)
22 September 2013		

None

Wendy Tankard
23 September 2013
Six months
Chief Contracts Officer
		

None

Ed Garratt
29 March 2012
Three months
Chief Operating Officer, WSCCG
		

None

For attendance to remuneration and HR committee please see page 60.
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Salaries and Allowances

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt
James Downes
Julian Herbert
Carl Goulton
Amanda Lyes
Barbara McLean
Wendy Tankard
Jon Reynolds
John Wicks
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Emma Derbyshire
Dr Jon Ferdinand
Dr Rosalind Tandy
Dr Andrew Yager
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Rakesh Raja
Dr Giles Stevens
David Cripps
Peter Knights
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Johanna Finn

Chief Operating Officer (See Note 2)
Chief Redesign Officer (See Note 2)
Chief Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Interim Chief Contracts Officer
GP Chair and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
Lead for Blackbourne Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Lead for the Haverhill Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement

Management
Delivery
Team
(See Note 1)

No
No
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

Period in Office:

2013/14
Long-term
Salary & Fees
Taxable
Annual
(bands of
Benefits
Performance Performance
£5,000)
(Rounded to
Related
Related
the nearest
Bonuses
Bonuses
£00)
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)

All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
(See Note 3)

Total

2013/14
Management
Delivery
Team Total
Salary and
Fees
(See Note 1)

From

To

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
23/09/2013
29/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
24/07/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013

31/03/2014
24/08/2013
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
30/09/2013
28/04/2013
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014

105 - 110
30 - 35
50 - 55
40 - 45
35 - 40
30 - 35
20 - 25
10 - 15
5 - 10
60 - 65
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
15 - 20
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15

8
0
3
2
2
1
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

47.5 - 50
2.5 - 5
17.5 - 20
12.5 - 15
2.5 - 5
0
5 - 7.5
5 - 7.5
0
0
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

155 - 160
35 - 40
70 - 75
55 - 60
40 - 45
30 - 35
25 - 30
20 - 25
5 - 10
60 - 65
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
15 - 20
15 - 20
15 - 20
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15

N/A
N/A
135 - 140
110 - 115
95 - 100
90 - 95
55 - 60
30 - 35
10 - 15
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
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Salaries and Allowances

Note 3 - All Pension Related
Benefits

Note 1 - Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk CCG host the
Management Delivery Team that
provides management support to
both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the
Management Delivery Team is shared
between both CCG’s in the following
proportion:- Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG 61.94% - West Suffolk CCG
38.06%. The Management Delivery
Team includes the above highlighted
Chief Officers. In addition to showing
the salary and fees charged to West
Suffolk CCG, the table also records
the Chief Officer’s total salary and
fees. As West Suffolk CCG host the
Management Delivery Team the Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG share of these
pay costs is shown as a charge from
West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich and
East Suffolk CCG’s accounts and not as
payroll costs.
Note 2 - Chief Redesign Officer
West Suffolk CCG decided not to recruit
a Chief Redesign Officer following the
departure of James Downes from the
organisation in August 2013. Instead
the duties of the Chief Redesign Officer
were absorbed into the role of the Chief
Operating Officer.

The amount included here is the
annual increase in pension entitlement
determined in accordance with the
‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit
pension schemes. In summary, this is as
follows:
Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x
PE) +LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:
• PE is the annual rate of pension that
would be payable to the officer if
they became entitled to it at the end
of the financial year;
• PB is the annual rate of pension,
adjusted for inflation, that would be
payable to the officer if they became
entitled to it at the beginning of the
financial year;
• LSE is the amount of lump sum that
would be payable to the officer if
they became entitled to it at the end
of the financial year; and,
• LSB is the amount of lump sum,
adjusted for inflation, that would be
payable to the officer if they became
entitled to it at the beginning of the
financial year.
The amount included is not a sum paid
to the officer by the CCG. It merely
represents the increase in pension
entitlement that occurred during the

year and is derived from data received
from NHS Pensions. Where N/A - no
requirement to disclose, as data
provided includes contributions from
other employment sources.
Payments for Loss of Office
None
Payment to past Senior Managers
There were no payments to past senior
managers.

Pay Multiples
The banded remuneration of the
highest paid member of the Governing
Body in the financial year 2013/14 was
£105,000 to £110,000. This was 3.35
times the median remuneration of
the workforce, which was £30,000 to
£35,000.
In 2013/14 no employee received
remuneration in excess of the highest
paid member of the Governing Body.
Remuneration ranged from £5,000 to
£10,000 to £105,000 to £110,000.
Total remuneration includes salary,
non-consolidated performance-related
pay, benefits-in-kind but not severance
payments. It does not include employer
pension contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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Period in
Office:

From

To

£000

£000

01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
29/04/2013
23/09/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013
01/04/2013

31/03/2014
24/08/2013
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
30/09/2013
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014
31/03/2014

0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - -2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

5 - 7.5
0 - -2.5
5 - 7.5
0 - -2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Pension Benefits

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt
James Downes
Julian Herbert
Barbara McLean
Amanda Lyes
Carl Goulton
Jon Reynolds
Wendy Tankard
Dr Emma Derbyshire (Note 1)
Dr Jon Ferdinand (Note 1)
Dr Rosalind Tandy (Note 1)
Dr Andrew Yager (Note 1)

Chief Operating Officer
Chief Redesign Officer
Chief Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds Locality
Lead for Haverhill Locality
Lead for Blackbourne Locality

Total
Real
Real
accrued
increase / increase /
decrease in decrease pension at
pension at in pension age 60 at
lump sum 31 March
age 60
2014
(bands of at aged 60
(bands of (bands of
£2,500)
£5,000)
£2,500)

Period in
Office:

Note 1: No requirement to disclose as data provided includes contributions from other employment sources.
No pension contributions were made in respect of the following Governing Body Members.
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Simon Arthur
Dr Rakesh Raja
Dr Giles Stevens
David Cripps
Peter Knights
Dr Crawford Jamieson
William Banks
Johanna Finn
John Wicks

Chair
GP and Joint Lead for Forest Heath Locality
GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury Locality
GP and Lead for the Haverhill Locality
Practice Manager Lead
Practice Manager Lead
Secondary Care Doctor
Vice Chair and Lay Member for Governance
Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement
Interim Chief Contracts Officer

Employer’s
Real
increase/ contribution
to
decrease
in Cash stakeholder
pension
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2013

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2014

£000

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2014
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

10 - 15
0-5
15 - 20
30 - 35
30 - 35
0-5
10 - 15
15 - 20
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

35 - 40
0-5
55 - 60
100 - 105
95 - 100
0-5
30 - 35
45 - 50
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

123
25
251
619
456
6
107
258
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

156
31
298
648
487
23
138
281
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

30
2
41
16
21
17
12
9
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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Off-Payroll Engagements
The CCG operates a flexible contract
approach to support high acuity levels
where necessary. The CCG engages
with recruitment agencies to support
short term assignments. In addition
a number of independent contractor
contracts are offered - none of which
spans longer than 6 months.

----------------------------------------------------------------

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
5 June 2014
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GOVERNING BODY PROFILES

Dr Christopher Browning
Chair

Dr Simon Arthur
GP and Joint Lead
for Forest Heath locality

Dr Emma Derbyshire
GP and Joint Lead
for Bury St Edmunds locality

Dr Andy Yager
GP and Lead
for Blackbourne locality

Dr Christopher Browning has 10
years’ experience in hospital medicine
and 12 years’ experience as a GP. He
has had operational experience in
the out-of-hours service and many
years’ experience representing his
GP colleagues on the LMC. He is
the chair of the Norfolk, Suffolk and
Cambridgeshire CCG Network.

Dr Simon Arthur has been a GP Suffolk
for 25 five years and is the lead partner
at Oakfield Surgery in Newmarket.
He is the CCG’s lead on out-of-hours
and community services, end of life
commissioning and the 111 service.
He is also the lead clinical commissioner
for the East of England ambulance
contract.

Dr Emma Derbyshire is a GP partner at
the Swan Surgery in Bury St Edmunds.
She holds the largest portfolio of work
in the CCG leading on integrated care
and prescribing.

Dr Andrew Yager is a GP partner at
Botesdale Surgery. He is the GP lead for
cancer commissioning and is also the
Macmillan facilitator for Suffolk.

NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14
Page 48

Dr Rakesh Raja
GP and Joint Lead
for Sudbury locality

Dr Jon Ferdinand
GP and Joint Lead
for Bury St Edmunds locality

Dr Roz Tandy
GP and Lead
for Bury St Edmunds locality

Dr Giles Stevens
GP and Lead
for Haverhill locality

Dr Rakesh Raja qualified in 1992 and
spent a large part of his initial training
in hospital medicine. Before moving
into general practice he worked in the
pharmaceutical industry developing
new drugs and designing clinical trials.
He has now been working in Suffolk
for 12 years as a GP and is a partner
at Hardwicke House Group Practice
in Sudbury. He is the GP in charge of
commissioning children’s and young
peoples’ services in West Suffolk and
was nominated for the East of England
Leadership Awards as clinical leader of
the year.

Dr Jon Ferdinand is a GP partner at
Wickhambrook Surgery and has also
worked in Bury and Haverhill during
his time as a GP in Suffolk. He works
part-time for Cambridge University as
an Assistant Director of GP studies and
is currently involved in the development
and running of the Cambridge
Graduate Course. He has been the
clinical lead for Planned Care since the
CCG started to take shape and has
facilitated the development of clinical
pathways working closely with hospital
consultants and other GPs with the aim
of optimising patient care. His work in
the CCG also includes risk stratification,
shared decision making, education and
developing the CCG’s IT strategy.

After qualifying as a GP in 2006, Dr
Rosalind Tandy has spent the last 7
years working as a salaried GP in the
West Suffolk region. Roz is in charge
of the Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities portfolio.

Dr Giles Stevens graduated from
Edinburgh in 2001, and initially worked
in Scotland. He returned to Norfolk
having grown up there, and worked
around the area after qualifying as a GP
and became Partner at the Clements
Christmas Maltings GP practice in
Haverhill in September 2012. He
joined the executive committee of
West Suffolk CCG in July 2013. He is
a key member of the Integrated Care
workstream and is the CCG’s clinical
lead for the Addenbrooke’s Hospital
contract.
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Peter Knights
Practice Manager Lead

David Cripps
Practice Manager Lead

Dr Crawford Jamieson
Secondary Care Doctor

Jo Finn
Lay Member Patient and Public Engagement

Peter Knights is Business partner and
Practice Manager at Mount Farm
Surgery. He has been Chair of Bury St
Edmunds Commissioning Consortium,
and Director and Secretary of WSCF.
He is a founder member of WSCCG.
Prior to joining the health sector Peter
spent more than 20 years in corporate
banking, corporate finance, and
latterly business planning and strategy.
He is a member of the CCG’s Audit
Committee.

David Cripps joined the NHS nineteen
years ago at the time of the last
major attempt at involving GPs in
commissioning and fundholding, since
when he has been a practice manager,
first in Cambridgeshire and more
recently in Suffolk. He has worked
with every incarnation of NHS body on
various projects and committees, mostly
as a result of his IT experience but
frequently as an agent for change. He
was deeply involved with Practice Based
Commissioning, delivering, among
others, a diabetes service in Sudbury
that pioneered inter practice referral,
was a Board member of WSCF, and
has continued to maintain his interest
in commissioning. He is the joint
governing body lead for IT.

Dr Crawford Jamieson has 13
years experience as a Consultant
Gastroenterologist and Physician and is
currently an Associate Medical Director
at the Norfolk and Norwich University
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. He has
gained experience of practice based
commissioning from the secondary
and tertiary care perspective and has
seen the clear benefits of good clinical
pathway design and implementation
in improving the quality of care that
patients receive. He has extensive
operational experience within a busy
University Hospital and has also been an
Executive Board member for the last six
years.

Jo Finn is a management consultant
working principally with public services,
including developing the national
programme for Shared Decision Making
for urology patients, reviewing Medical
Undergraduate Clinical Placements and
setting up the prototype arrangements
for Major Review of Health Professional
Training. Prior to consultancy, she was
West Suffolk Hospital’s NHS Trust Chief
Executive for 8 years. She has over 40
years experience in health management
at all levels.
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Bill Banks
Vice Chair and Lay Member - Governance
Bill Bank’s role is strategic and
impartial and he oversees key elements
of governance including audit,
remuneration and managing conflicts
of interest. He chairs the CCG’s Audit
Committee and the Remuneration &
HR Committee. He is also Vice Chair of
the Governing Body. He is a qualified
accountant and served as an examiner
for his professional institute. He worked
for 42 years in local government and
public transport, majoring in finance.
His last employer was Suffolk County
Council, where he was Director of
Resource Management. He worked for
NHS Suffolk from 2007 to 2013 as a
Non-Executive Director and Chair of its
Audit Committee. He currently serves
as an independent member of the
Audit and Risk Committee for University
Campus Suffolk.

Julian Herbert
Chief Officer

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Operating Officer

Barbara McLean
Chief Nursing Officer

Julian Herbert is Chief Officer for both
Ipswich and East Suffolk and West
Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Groups.
He joined the NHS in 2005 as Director
of Finance & Performance of East
Suffolk Primary Care Trust and played
a major role in resolving the legacy of
historic debt both in the East and then
the West of the county. Before joining
the NHS, he spent a brief spell working
in local government and has 15 years
experience in a range of commercial
and financial roles in the private sector.

Dr Ed Garratt is the Chief Operating
Officer of NHS West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group. He was previously
Deputy Director of Commissioning for
NHS East of England and supported
Sir Neil McKay in establishing NHS
Midlands and East. He has worked on
various policy areas, such as the NHS
Constitution, primary care quality and
safety, and HR. He has a first class
honours degree in History from the
University of Sussex and a masters and
a doctorate in English Literature from
the University of Cambridge.

Barbara McLean is Chief Nursing
Officer, with responsibility for improving
quality and patient experience.
Making sure people’s voices are heard
in healthcare settings motivates her.
She knows that bringing individuals
into the planning of their care and
making sure they have the opportunity
and information to truly understand
what’s happening, enhances their
experience - and accessing the patients’
experience drives quality. She has a
range of experience in the NHS, from
being engaged directly with patients as
a nurse to policy development at the
Department of Health.
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Amanda Lyes
Chief Corporate Services Officer

Carl Goulton
Chief Finance Officer

Wendy Tankard
Chief Contracts Officer

Amanda Lyes is the Chief
Corporate Services Officer and has
a NHS career spanning 20 years.
Although professionally qualified
in Human Resources, her profile
now encompasses IM&T, corporate
governance, information governance as
well as HR. Her strength’s lay in the field
of change management, organisational
development and employee relations.
She has a wide understanding of NHS
service delivery and is passionate about
delivering a high standard of service.
She is an experienced Board member
having held Board level positions in 2
other NHS organisations and is a Fellow
of the Chartered Institute of Personnel
and Development and holds a MSc in
Human resource Management.

Carl is Chief Finance Officer for both
Ipswich and East Suffolk and West
Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Groups.
Carl joined the NHS in 2012 having
gained over 20 years’ experience in the
private sector, operating at Board level
in FTSE and Private Equity enterprises.
He is a Chartered Management
Accountant, Fellow of the Institute of
Directors and Fellow of the Institute of
Leadership and Management.

Wendy Tankard is a Registered Nurse
(specialist Practitioner)with over 28
years’ experience in the NHS and private
sector across acute, community and
commissioning. She has held positions
as Director of Nursing and Director of
Clinical Quality for the North East Essex
PCT, in addition to clinical quality and
governance she held the portfolio for
urgent care and Trauma. More latterly
her role in the independent sector
was Director of Service Redesign. She
was also an advisor on the European
Commission task force for e-health.
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REGISTER OF INTERESTS
2013/14

Bill Banks
Lay Member

Dr Jonathan Ferdinand
Governing Body Member

Peter Knights
Governing Body Member

Dr Christopher Browning
Chairman

• Member of the Audit
and Risk Committee of
University Campus Suffolk.

• Owner and Director of
Get the Shot Ltd video
production company;
• GP Partner, Wickhambrook
Surgery.

• Partner and Practice
Manager at Mount Farm
Surgery.

• GP Partner - Lead in IT
and commissioning;
• Director of Suffolk GP
Services - a property holding
company in Ipswich;
• Clinical lead for Harmoni
out of hours which involves
managing the clinicians, the
complaints and significant
incidents;
• LMC representative for the
West of Suffolk;
• GP appraiser - contract held
with NHS England;
• Wife is a consultant for the
elderly and clinical director
for West Suffolk Hospital.
Dr Nicholas Simon Arthur
Governing Body Member
• GP Partner at Oakfield
Surgery;
• Works for Urgent Care
Cambridge (UCC) as an
out of hours clinician.

David Cripps
Governing Body Member
• Hardwicke House Group
Practice;
• Practice provides GP cover
to Serco for Hazel Court
intermediate care beds
and has 50% interest
in Sudbury Healthcare
Partnership USS service.
Dr Emma Derbyshire
Governing Body Member
• GP Partner of Swan Surgery
that also has a five year
contract to provide services
at Forest Surgery, Brandon;
• Director of Swan Med
Pharmacy;
• Swan Surgery provides
surgical services for
vasectomies and enhanced
minor surgery.

Johanna Finn
Lay Member
• Director of Jo Finn Ltd Management Consultancy;
• NHS Senior Manager for
many years;
• Ex-husband was a
consultant obstetrician and
gynaecologist.

Amanda Lyes
Chief Corporate Services
Officer - NIL
Barbara McLean
Chief Nursing Officer

Ed Garratt
Chief Operating Officer - NIL

• Owner/Director of Allington
Healthcare Ltd;
• Spouse has current role as
interim CEO of Independent
Living Group (ILG);
• Spouse is a shareholder of
Clearwater Specialist Care
Group Ltd.

Carl Goulton
Chief Finance Officer - NIL

Dr Rakesh Raja
Governing Body Member

Julian Herbert
Chief Officer - NIL
Dr Crawford Jamieson
Secondary Care Doctor - NIL

• Director & shareholder of
Sudbury Health Partnership
providing community
ultrasound service in
Sudbury;
• Senior GP Partner,
Hardwicke House Group
Practice;
• Practice is subcontracted by
Serco to provide cover for

beds at Hazel Court;
• Wife is a salaried GP in
the same practice & works
under her maiden name,
Dr Catherine Firth.
Jon Reynolds
Interim Chief Contracts Officer
- NIL
Dr Giles Stevens
Governing Body Member
• GP Partner;
• Provision of civilian medical
practitioner services to the
MoD.
Dr Rosalind Tandy
Governing Body Member - NIL
Wendy Tankard
Chief Contracts Officer - NIL
Dr Andrew Yager
Governing Body Member
• GP Partner, Botesdale
Health Centre;
• Director and sharehold of
Botesdale Rural Services,
Botesdale Pharmacy;
• GP Lead for Friends of
Botesdale Health Centre.

SECTION TWO
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES

The National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) states that each
Clinical Commissioning Group shall
have an Accountable Officer and that
Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England).
NHS England has appointed the Chief
Officer to be the Accountable Officer of
the Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable
Officer, including responsibilities for the
propriety and regularity of the public
finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable, for keeping proper
accounting records (which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and enable them
to ensure that the accounts comply
with the requirements of the Accounts
Direction) and for safeguarding the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets
(and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities), are set
out in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning
Group to prepare for each financial year
financial statements in the form and
on the basis set out in the Accounts
Direction.
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The financial statements are prepared
on an accruals basis and must give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Clinical Commissioning Group
and of its net expenditure, changes in
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the
financial year.

To the best of my knowledge and
belief, I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out in my Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter.

In preparing the financial statements, the
Accountable Officer is required to comply
with the requirements of the Manual for
Accounts issued by the Department of
Health and in particular to:

----------------------------------------------------------------

• Observe the Accounts Direction
issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure
requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent
basis;
• Make judgements and estimates on
a reasonable basis;
• State whether applicable accounting
standards as set out in the Manual
for Accounts issued by the
Department of Health have been
followed, and disclose and explain
any material departures in the
financial statements; and,
• Prepare the financial statements
on a going concern basis.

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
5 June 2014
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT FOR 2013/14

This Governance Statement has been
prepared by the Chief Officer as the
Accountable Officer of West Suffolk
Clinical Commissioning Group.

The Clinical Commissioning Group
was authorised in full and without any
conditions on 16 July 2013.
Scope of Responsibility

Introduction & Context
The Clinical Commissioning Group
was licenced from 1 April 2013 under
provisions enacted in the Health & Social
Care Act 2012, which amended the
National Health Service Act 2006.
The Clinical Commissioning Group
operated in shadow form prior to 1 April
2013, to allow for the completion of the
licencing process and the establishment
of function, systems and processes prior
to the clinical commissioning group
taking on its full powers.
As at 1 April 2013, the Clinical
Commissioning Group was licensed
with conditions as follows:
• 3.1.1B Clinical Commissioning
Group must have a clear and
credible integrated plan that meets
authorisation requirements; and
• 3.1.1C Clinical Commissioning
Group must have detailed financial
plan that delivers financial balance,
sets out how it will manage within
its management allowance, and is
integrated with the commissioning
plan.

As Accountable Officer, I have
responsibility for maintaining a sound
system of internal control that supports
the achievement of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the
public funds and assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance
with the responsibilities assigned to
me in Managing Public Money. I also
acknowledge my responsibilities as
set out in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that
the Clinical Commissioning Group
is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are
applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and
regularity.
Compliance with the UK
Corporate Governance Code
Whilst the detailed provisions of the
UK Corporate Governance Code are
not mandatory for public sector bodies,
compliance with relevant principles
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of the Code is considered to be good
practice. This Governance Statement
is intended to demonstrate how the
clinical commissioning group had
regard to the principles set out in the
Code considered appropriate for clinical
commissioning groups for the financial
year ended 31 March 2014.
The Clinical Commissioning Group
Governance Framework
The National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended), at paragraph 14L (2) (b)
states:
The main function of the governing
body is to ensure that the group has
made appropriate arrangements for
ensuring that it complies with such
generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
The governance framework of the
Clinical Commissioning Group, in
accordance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code, the framework for
corporate governance, is the system
by which the Clinical Commissioning
Group is directed and controlled in
order to achieve its objectives and
meet the necessary standards of
accountability and probity. Effective
corporate governance, along with
clinical governance, is essential for
a Clinical Commissioning Group to

achieve its clinical, quality and financial
objectives.
The NHS Act 2006, together with the
Health & Social Care Act 2012 and
associated legislation, sets out the legal
framework within which the Clinical
Commissioning Group operates. It is a
statutory requirement that the Clinical
Commissioning Group Governing
Body specify their terms of reference,
schedule of reservation and delegation
of powers, and the financial framework
within which the organisation operates.
These key documents comprise the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s
corporate governance arrangements
and include:
• The Constitution - as a framework
for Governing Body governance
• The Detailed Financial Policies - as a
framework for financial governance
• The Scheme of Reservation and
Delegation - as a framework for
internal governance
It is essential that the public and all
employees know of the existence of
these documents and for staff, that
they are aware of their responsibilities
as set out within. They will therefore be
reviewed, updated and approved each
year at a meeting of the Governing

NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14
Page 56

Body in public and made available on
the Clinical Commissioning Group web
site and intranet.
Prior to establishment of the Clinical
Commissioning Group as a statutory
body, as part of the authorisation
process, the proposed governance
arrangements were checked for any
irregularities and found to be legally
compliant.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s
Membership Body includes 25 member
practices. These member practices are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Botesdale Health Centre, Botesdale
Avicenna, Hopton
Christmas Maltings Surgery, Haverhill
Woolpit Health Centre, Woolpit
Angel Hill General Practice,
Bury St Edmunds
Glemsford Surgery, Glemsford
Guildhall and Barrow Surgery,
Bury St Edmunds
Mount Farm Surgery,
Bury St Edmunds
Swan Surgery, Bury St Edmunds
Victoria Surgery, Bury St Edmunds
Brandon Medical Practice
Forest Surgery, Brandon
Lakenheath Surgery
Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall
Oakfield Surgery, Newmarket
Orchard House Surgery, Newmarket
White House Surgery, Mildenhall

• The Rookery Medical Centre,
Newmarket
• Wickhambrook Surgery
• Clements & Christmas Maltings
Surgery, Haverhill
• Stourview Medical Centre, Haverhill
• Guildhall Surgery, Bury St Edmunds
• Hardwicke House Group Practice,
Sudbury
• The Long Melford Practice
• Siam Surgery, Sudbury
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s
Governing Body includes 8 GPs elected
by their peers, 2 practice managers,
a lay member for governance, a
lay member for patient and public
involvement, 6 chief officers (including
an accountable officer, a chief
operating officer and a chief finance
officer) and a secondary care doctor.
Governing Body meetings focus on
patient and public engagement, clinical
services, finance, performance and
scrutiny and governance and corporate
business.
Some of the key items considered by
the Governing Body at meetings during
the year included:
• Five year strategic plan
• Better care fund
• Strategic commissioning intentions
for urgent care

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Continuing healthcare
Transforming pathology partnership
Early supported discharge for stroke
Integrated performance report
Governing Body Assurance
Framework (GBAF)
Investment in services
Community pain service
Community physiotherapy
procurement
Local enhanced services
Commissioning intentions

The Governing Body considers that it
has been very effective in the first year
of the clinical commissioning group in
discharge of its duties and has been
assured by NHS England at quarterly
review meetings.
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The table (right) shows the Governing
Body attendance for 2013-2014:

24 Apr
2013

5 June
2013

17 July
2013

Attendance Register
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning
Group Governing Body Meeting
April 2013 - March 2014

WSCCG Governing Body Member Dr Simon Arthur
WSCCG Governing Body Member Lay Member (Vice Chair) Bill Banks
Chair WSCCG Governing Body Member
Dr Christopher Browning
WSCCG Governing Body Member David Cripps
WSCCG Governing Body Member Dr Emma Derbyshire
WSCCG Governing Body Member Dr Jon Ferdinand
WSCCG Governing Body Member Patient & Public Involvement Jo Finn
WSCCG Governing Body Member Secondary Care Doctor Dr Crawford Jamieson
WSCCG Governing Body Member Peter Knights
WSCCG Governing Body Member Dr Rakesh Raja
WSCCG Governing Body Member Dr Giles Stevens
WSCCG Governing Body Member Dr Rosalind Tandy
WSCCG Governing Body Member Dr Andrew Yager
Chief Redesign Officer James Downes
West Suffolk Chief Operating Officer Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Finance Officer Carl Goulton
Chief Officer Julian Herbert
Chief Corporate Services Officer Amanda Lyes
Chief Nursing Officer Barbara McLean
Chief Contracts Officer
Wendy Tankard/John Wicks/Jon Reynolds

John
Wicks

Jon
Reynolds

25 Sept
2013

27 Nov
2013

29 Jan
2014

26 Mar
2013
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The formal sub-committees established
by the Clinical Commissioning Group
Governing Body include:

as set out in Secretary of State
Directions and as required by
the Counter Fraud and Security
Management Service.

The Audit Committee
The purpose and key functions of the
Audit Committee include reviewing the
adequacy of:
(i) All risk and control related
disclosure statements (in particular
the Annual Governance Statement),
together with any accompanying
Head of Internal Audit statement,
external audit opinion or other
appropriate independent
assurances, prior to endorsement
by the Governing Body;
(ii) The structures, processes and
responsibilities for identifying
and managing key risks facing
the organisation through the
oversight of risk management and
information governance strategies;
(iii) The operational effectiveness
of policies and procedures
relating to internal control and
risk management including
the Governing Body Assurance
Framework; and
(iv) The policies and procedures for all
work related fraud and corruption

Highlights of the Committee’s work
included:
• Bedding-in the new governance
arrangements within the Clinical
Commissioning Group
• Consideration and oversight of
the work plans for External Audit,
Internal Audit and Counter Fraud
• Internal Audit reporting including
reports on Clinical Governance,
Continuing Healthcare and Looked
After Children
• Review of Clinical Governance
and subsequent changes to the
constitution
• Oversight of the Governing Body
Assurance Framework (GBAF)
• Information Governance
• Review of the Emergency
Preparedness and Resilience Policy

The Remuneration and Human
Resources Committee

Highlights of the Committee’s work
included:

The purpose of the Remuneration and
Human Resources Committee is to:

• Bedding-in the new governance
arrangements within the Clinical
Commissioning Group

(i) Advise the Governing Body about
the appropriate remuneration
and terms of service for the
Accountable Officer, Chief Officers
and senior managers of the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
(ii) Under delegated powers from the
Governing Body, make decisions
on all aspects of the Accountable
Officers’, Chief Officers’ and senior
managers’ salary (including any
performance-related elements
and any allowances) within the
provisions of relevant national
frameworks, provisions for
other benefits, as well as the
arrangements for termination of
employment and other contractual
terms.
(iii) Advise on all Human Resources
policies and procedures and issues
that may impact on the terms and
conditions of employment for all
staff.
(iv) Advise on all matters of health and
safety.

• HR performance
• Agenda for Change
• Management costs
• Appraisal and personal development
planning
• Leadership development
• Departmental redesign
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The tables (right and overleaf) show the
Audit Committee and Remuneration
and Human Resources Committee
attendance for 2013/14:

Attendance West Suffolk CCG Audit Committee
Meeting Date

Bill Banks

Peter Knights

Others in attendance
to advise

9 April 2013

Yes

Yes

11 June 2013

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief Finance Officer
Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief Finance Officer

3 September 2013

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
Chief Nursing Officer
Head of Accounting
and Control

15 October 2013

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Head of Accounting
and Control

10 December 2013

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Finance Accounting
Manager

11 February 2014

Yes

Yes

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief Finance Officer
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Attendance West Suffolk CCG Remuneration and HR Committee
Meeting Date

Bill Banks

Johanna Finn

Others in attendance
to advise

4 April 2013

Yes

Yes

Chief Corporate
Services Manager

13 June 2013

Yes

Yes

Chief Corporate
Services Manager

17 September 2013

Yes

Yes

Chief Corporate
Services Manager

29 October 2013

Yes

Yes

Chief Corporate
Services Manager

17 December 2013

Yes

Yes

Chief Corporate
Services Manager

18 February 2014

Yes

Yes

Chief Corporate
Services Manager
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The Clinical Executive Committee

Attendance West Suffolk CCG Clinical Executive Committee

The purpose of the Clinical Executive
Committee is to:
(i) Provide a dedicated forum for the
oversight of clinical governance.
(ii) Provide assurance to the Governing
Body and Audit Committee that the
Clinical Commissioning Group has
the necessary clinical governance
arrangements in place to meet its
objectives.

8 January 2014

26 February 2014

Arthur Simon

Yes

Yes

Banks Bill

Yes

Yes

Browning Christopher

Yes

Yes

Cripps David

Yes

Yes

Derbyshire Emma

Yes

Yes

Ferdinand Jon

Yes

Yes

Finn Johanna

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

No

(iii) Ensure effective clinical engagement
in clinical governance processes,
utilising clinicians’ specific expertise and
knowledge of local communities and
public/patient involvement.

Goulton Carl

Yes

Yes

Herbert Julian

Yes

Yes

Jameison Crawford

No

Yes

Kanka David

Yes

Yes

(iv) Facilitate a culture where clinical
quality, patient experience and patient
safety are of the highest priority.

Knights Peter

Yes

Yes

Lyes Amanda

Yes

No

McLean Barbara

No

No

This is a new Committee with the first
meeting held in January and February
2014.

Raja Rakesh

Yes

No

Tankard Wendy

No

Yes

Stevens Giles Dr

Yes

Yes

The table (right) shows the Clinical
Scrutiny Committee attendance for
these meetings:

Tandy Rosalind

Yes

Yes

Yagar Andrew

Yes

Yes
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The Commissioning Governance
Committee

The Clinical Commissioning Group
Risk Management Framework

• The Information Governance
Manager

The purpose of the Commissioning
Governance Committee is to:

During the course of 2013-14, the
organisation’s processes for effective
risk management were managed in
line with the Clinical Commissioning
Group Risk Management Strategy and
Organisational Framework 2013-2015
and the Governing Body Assurance
Framework with this being reviewed by
the Governing Body and by the Audit
Committee at each of their meetings.

Equality Impact Assessments are
conducted at the outset of setting
strategy and delivering services across
the commissioning cycle and in assuring
a control and assurance culture
through risk, incident and complaints
management which ensures a clearly
defined culture of equality across
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
activities.

The Chief Corporate Services Officer
is the designated lead for overseeing
the day to day coordination of risk
management reporting arrangements,
including training and is a resource for
all risk related issues. The Governance
Advisor supports Chief Officers, Heads
of Department and Line Managers,
whilst also scrutinising all identified risk
and incident data. As the designated
lead, the Chief Corporate Services
Officer works in partnership with:

The Clinical Commissioning Group
Internal Control Framework

(i) Provide a forum, with delegated
decision making powers, for
approval of commissioning
intentions where the recommended
providers are GP practices.
(ii) Provide assurance to the Governing
Body, Audit Committee, NHS
England and general public that
the Clinical Commissioning Group
has the necessary governance
arrangements in place to manage
conflict of interest in regard to the
procurement of services provided by
GP practices.
(iii) Facilitate a culture of openness
and probity around the local
commissioning of GP services.
(iv) Demonstrate that the Clinical
Commissioning Group and
member practices are acting fairly
and transparently and that final
commissioning decisions are made
in ways that preserve the integrity
of the decision making process.
The Committee does not meet routinely
but on an as required basis.

• The contract Health and Safety
Advisers who act as the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s ‘Competent
Person’
• The Chief Nursing Officer with
respect to risk management
requirements set out in the Care
Quality Commission standards

A system of internal control is the set
of processes and procedures in place
in the clinical commissioning group to
ensure it delivers its policies, aims and
objectives. It is designed to identify
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the
likelihood of those risks being realised
and the impact should they be realised,
and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows
risk to be managed to a reasonable
level rather than eliminating all risk; it
can therefore only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.

Information Governance
Data security risks are reported through
the Information Governance Manager
to the Chief Corporate Services Officer.
The Information Governance Group
that reports to the Audit Committee
monitors a detailed action plan, linked
to the requirements of the National
Information Governance Toolkit. Leveltwo compliance has been achieved for
all of the toolkit requirements giving
an overall rating of ‘satisfactory’.
No strategic data security risks have
been included in the Governing Body
Assurance Framework (GBAF) during
the course of 2013-2014.
The NHS Information Governance
Framework sets the processes and
procedures by which the NHS handles
information about patients and
employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS
Information Governance Framework
is supported by an information
governance toolkit and the annual
submission process provides assurances
to the clinical commissioning group,
other organisations and to individuals
that personal information is dealt
with legally, securely, efficiently and
effectively.
We place high importance on
ensuring there are robust information
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governance systems and processes
in place to help protect patient and
corporate information. We have
established an information governance
management framework and are
developing information governance
processes and procedures in line with
the information governance toolkit.
We have ensured that all staff undertake annual information governance
training so that they are aware of their
information governance roles and
responsibilities.

are accurately updated in accordance
with the timescales detailed in the
regulations.

We are also setting out our
commitments as a socially responsible
employer.

Equality, Diversity & Human Rights
Obligations

Risk Assessment in Relation to
Governance, Risk Management
& Internal Control

Control measures are in place to ensure
that the clinical commissioning group
complies with the required public sector
equality duty set out in the Equality Act
2010.
Sustainable Development Obligations

There are processes in place for
incident reporting and investigation of
serious incidents. We are developing
information risk assessment and
management procedures and a
programme will be established to fully
embed an information risk culture
throughout the organisation.
Pension Obligations
As an employer with staff entitled
to membership of the NHS Pension
Scheme, control measures are in place
to ensure all employer obligations
contained within the scheme
regulations are complied with. This
includes ensuring that deductions
from salary, employer’s contributions
and payments into the scheme are in
accordance with the scheme rules, and
that member pension scheme records

The clinical commissioning group
is required to report its progress
in delivering against sustainable
development indicators.
We are developing plans to assess
risks, enhance our performance and
reduce our impact, including against
carbon reduction and climate change
adaptation objectives. This includes
establishing mechanisms to embed
social and environmental sustainability
across policy development, business
planning and in commissioning.
We will ensure the clinical
commissioning group complies with its
obligations under the Climate Change
Act 2008, including the Adaptation
Reporting power, and the Public
Services (Social Value) Act 2012.

The Governing Body Assurance
Framework (GBAF) provides the Clinical
Commissioning Group with a simple
but comprehensive method for the
effective and focused management of
risk. Through the GBAF the Governing
Body gains assurance from the
Chief Officers that all risks are being
appropriately managed throughout the
organisation.
The GBAF identifies which of the
organisation’s strategic goals may be
at risk because of inadequacies in the
operation of controls, or where the
Clinical Commissioning Group has
insufficient assurance. At the same
time it encompasses the control of
risk, provides structured assurances
about where risks are being managed
and ensures that objectives are being
delivered. This allows the Governing
Body to determine how to make the
most efficient use of resources and
address the issues identified in order to
continuously improve the quality and
safety of healthcare commissioning.

In order to ensure consistency in the
risk assessment process, the likelihood
and consequences of all risks on the
Clinical Commissioning Group Risk
Register are assessed against an agreed
5x5 risk matrix. Those scoring 15 and
above migrate to the GBAF and thereby
inform the Governing Body agenda.
The risk matrix and subsequent red,
amber, green (RAG) score identify the
level at which identified risks will be
managed within the organisation.
It also assigns priorities for remedial
action and determines whether risks
are to be accepted on the basis of the
colour bandings and risk ratings. In
evaluating effectiveness, the RAG rating
system is also used to present how well
the agreed controls are operating.
A summary of the key strategic risks
affecting the Clinical Commissioning
Group during the course of 2013-14
(including those carried forward into
future years) and the actions taken
to eliminate or mitigate them have
included:
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Risk / Uncertainty

Actions taken to eliminate or mitigate

1.

Failure to safely manage surges in patients requiring
urgent care during the winter period and impact on
ability to deliver 95% A&E target and ambulance
turnaround targets

• Urgent Care Network (UCN) led by CCG Clinical Chair with Executive Director and Medical Director
accountability
• UCN action plan with organisational responsibilities – delivery tracked monthly
• Winter plan agreed by ICN and CCG Governing Body in July 2013 for early implementation
• NHS England has signed off Winter Plan
• On-going work with Serco and WSHT on transformation
• Daily monitoring of performance at WSH
• Escalation process agreed system wide
• First Exception Notice issued and all actions complied with-now closed EEAST/IHT/WSH action plans
to improve ambulance handover times
• Additional resources and initiatives for winter period
• NHS England risk summit called

2.

Failure to achieve on-going financial balance beyond
13/14 and deliver optimum service from the financial
resources available

•
•
•
•
•

Project management approach to delivery of the QIPP plans
Focus on activity levels with clear actions to mitigate against over performance
Close monitoring of the delivery of QIPP initiatives through Key Performance Indicators
Encourage innovative changes principally via CCGs to improve efficiency
Active scrutiny and challenge of specialist costs through the Specialised Commissioning Group
Finance, Commissioning and Performance Committee
• Board review of expenditure prioritisation
• Holding some new investments until savings delivered
• Prioritisation process for QIPP initiative investments and transformational change
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Risk / Uncertainty

Actions taken to eliminate or mitigate

3.

Contractual breaches with the out of hours service by
Harmoni in relation to patient safety and clinical quality
Risk Removed from GBAF: October 2013

•
•
•
•
•

4.

Failure to evidence the national drive of zero tolerance
on MRSA bacteraemia

• All MRSA bacteraemia cases to be subjected to NHS England Post Infection Review (PIR)
• Attendance at all PIRs by Shared Management Team, reviewing assurance and management systems
• Review of all audits and contract monitoring information against CQC recommended IC standards
(to include antibiotic prescribing) in all CCG commissioned services
• Review of compliance against national and locally agreed MRSA screening standards.

6.

Failure to achieve the local reduction trajectories for
Clostridium difficile

•
•
•
•
•
•

7.

Potential impact of Serco model of care and
transformation as a result of staff consultation

•
•
•
•
•

Serco invited to meetings with CCG and stakeholders
Risk assessment of changes
Formal presentation to HOSC
Formal inclusion of Key Performance Indicators in performance report
Engagement with Sudbury WATCH

8.

Failure to deliver performance standards and quality of
care at Addenbrookes Hospital (CUHFT)
Risk Removed from GBAF: March 2014

•
•
•
•

CCG contracts team active at SLA meetings
Quality lead join contract quality meetings
CCG GP lead actively involved
Joint approach with Cambridge & Peterborough CCG

Intensive review of Harmoni service in relation to contract
CEO to CEO discussions
Continuing review of serious incidents, complaints & patient safety issues
Robust monitoring in relation to 8 base pilot
Non East of England performers management strengthened

Robust RCA process for each provider case identifying those for successful appeal
GP ownership of primary care cases with clinical review identifying those for successful appeal
Provider and CCG joint thematic analysis of all cases
Isolation capacity monitored with breaches raised at ICSG*
Ribotyping of all cases
Audit programme of CQC recommended IC standards (to include antibiotic prescribing) in all CCG
commissioned services
• Delivery of targeted infection control education and audit in all CCG commissioned services
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Risk / Uncertainty

Actions taken to eliminate or mitigate

9.

Service risks as a result of the Norfolk & Suffolk
Foundation Trust (NSFT) proposed service redesign
model

•
•
•
•
•
•

10.

Work with WSH to monitor and report failure to
monitor and report key quality metrics impeding
early warning systems to inform commissioners
and regulators of potential risks and deteriorating
standards of care

• Improvements to quality of SIRI reports and the range of personnel to undertake report writing and
investigations widened
• Evidence of widespread learning and changes to practice to evidence changes in risks and issues
• Active clinical audit programme
• Evidence of executive level scrutiny of high level issues i.e. never events
• Governing Body reporting to include patient safety and quality items as top priority
• Monitor audits of WHO surgical checklist
• Monitor action plan from Never event - including new strategy for safer surgery

11.

As a result of the NHS white paper there is no legal
basis for CCGs to receive, retain and process patient
identifiable data

•
•
•
•

12.

Implementation of Transforming Pathology Services

• Attendance at key meetings with implementation teams
• Communication plan & pathways being developed

14.

Failure to comply with NHS continuing Health care
Framework

• Investment of clinical and administration personnel
• High attrition, retention of staff through training and on-going support framework in development
• Review of operating processes established to target backlog which will not effect on going business
continuity
• Policies and processes established and agreed by the CCG

NSFT meeting regularly with CCG and part of CCG work stream
Risk assessment of changes
HOSC scrutiny
Revised quality monitoring criteria
Multi agency workshop held with NSFT to discuss impact of new operating model
NHS England / Monitor/ Norfolk and Suffolk CCG’s meeting with NSFT to review concerns.

Confirmation received that CCGs can continue to use data for PCT ‘close down’ phase
Extension to October 2014 allowing for use of SUS data
Central email address established for queries, reviewed by Information Team and Caldicott Guardian
Regular communication to organisation on what can and cannot be done by Information Team
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Risk / Uncertainty

Actions taken to eliminate or mitigate

15.

Resource challenges as a result of having the role of
lead commissioner for the East of England Ambulance
Service Trust (EEAST), reducing the ability to focus on
other local services

• CCG consortium members engagement plans set out including regular information updates on
progress
• Strong links with the Trust Development Authority (the agency responsible for ensuring EEAST
develop as an organisation)
• Rigorous commissioning of EEAST by a standalone specialist team within the CCG overseen by the
Chief Contracts Officer
• Involvement of the Area Teams in key areas including ambulance handover times at local Trusts

16.

Risk of sub optimal clinical outcomes for stroke
patients

• Direct financial consequences applied
• Contract Query issued and remedial action plan agreed

17.

West Suffolk Hospital finance position adversely
impacting on quality and performance at the Trust
Risk Added to the GBAF: October 2013

• Initiated system wide review on impact of hospitals financial position
• Regular Finance Director meetings established

18.

Failure to meet some statutory duties for Looked After
Children
Risk Added to the GBAF: January 2014

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Further development of multi-agency leadership, strategy and governance
Development of commissioning strategy and service specifications
Enhanced mechanisms for incorporating children and young people’s views into service redesign
Additional specialist nurse recruitment
Workforce development
Further development of emotional and mental health and well-being services
Task and Finish groups established to lead actions as per review recommendations
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Further to monthly scrutiny, the risk ratings for each of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s key strategic risks have changed over the course of the year as follows:
Risk No

Apr-13

1
2
3
4
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
14
15
16
17
18

20
12
12
20
20
16
12
12
12
16
9
20
12
16

May-13

Jun-13

20
12
12
20
20
16
12
12
12
16
9
20
12
16

20
12
12
20
20
16
12
12
12
16
12
20
12
16

Jul-13

Aug-13

20
12
12
20
20
16
12
12
12
16
12
20
12
16

20
12
12
20
20
16
12
12
12
16
12
12
12
16

Sep-13
16
12
12
20
20
16
12
12
12
16
12
20
12
16

Oct-13
16
12
Removed
20
20
16
12
12
12
16
12
20
12
16
16

Nov-13

Dec-13

Jan-14

Feb-14

Mar-14

16
12

16
16

12
20

12
20

12
20

20
20
16
12
12
12
16
12
20
12
16
16

16
20
16
12
12
12
16
12
20
12
16
16

20
20
16
12
12
12
12
12
20
12
12
16
12

20
20
16
12
12
9
12
12
20
12
12
16
12

16
16
16
12
9
9
12
12
20
12
9
16
12

The risk rating matrix used:
Likelihood Score
Consequence Score
5: Catastrophic
4: Major
3: Moderate
2: Minor
1: Negligible

1: Rare

2: Unlikely

3: Possible

4: Likely

5: Almost Certain

5
4
3
2
1

10
8
6
4
2

15
12
9
6
3

20
16
12
8
4

25
20
15
10
5
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The subsequent red, amber, green (RAG) scores identify the level at which identified risks will be managed within the organisation. It also assigns priorities for remedial action,
and determines whether risks are to be accepted on the basis of the colour bandings and risk ratings. In terms of evaluation of effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used
to present how well the agreed controls are operating within the following classifications:

RAG SCORE

CRITICAL
(15-25)

CHALLENGING
(8-12)

MANAGEABLE
(1-6)

PROGRESS

• There may be significant gaps
in controls to ensure effective
management.
• Controls are in place but insufficient
resources
• Controls are in place but external
forces may be preventing progress.

RISK ASSESSMENT
• There are insufficient controls in place
to address the cause or source of the
risk
• Controls are considered insubstantial
or ineffective
• Controls are being implemented but
are not yet in place
• If this risk were to materialise, the
situation could be irrecoverable in
terms of the Clinical Commissioning
Groups reputational/financial wellbeing and or service continuity.

Progress is being made but there is
concern that the objective may not
be achieved. Additional controls or
management action is being taken
to improve the likelihood of success.

There are few controls in place, which
are considered substantial and/or
effective and address the cause of
the risk. The consequences of the
risk materialising, though severe,
can be managed to some extent via
contingency plans.

Progress is being made in accordance
with plans. There are no significant
concerns.

The risk is considered to be small and
there are sufficient controls in place
which address or substantially effective
the cause of the risk. The consequences
of the risk materialising can be
managed via contingency plans.

REVISING RISK RATINGS

If controls are inadequate then the
revised risk rating increases

If controls are uncertain, the revised
risk rating stays the same as the
original risk rating

If they are perceived as adequate,
then the revised risk rating decreases
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None of the principal risks relate
to compliance with the Clinical
Commissioning Group licence. In
addition, the Governing Body reviews
the GBAF at each of its meetings thus
ensuring a high degree and rigour over
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
performance.

•

•
Review of Economy, Efficiency
& Effectiveness of the Use of
Resources

•

My review was informed in a number
of ways:
• Chief Officers within the organisation
who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance
of the system of internal control
provided me with assurance
• The GBAF itself provides me with
evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage the risks to the
organisation achieving its principal
objectives have been reviewed
• The work of Governing Body
committees, particularly the Audit
Committee, which scrutinises and
challenges governance and risk
activities and seeks assurances on the
effectiveness of controls
• The Clinical Executive Committee, as
a committee of the Governing Body,
provides strategic clinical leadership,
expertise and advice whilst ensuring

•

•

•
•

effective clinical engagement,
utilising clinician’s knowledge of local
communities and public and patient
involvement
The work of the Chief Nursing
Officers team in carrying out quality
visits, inspections and monitoring
provider serious incidents and risks
Contract meetings with providers
which hold them to account for the
quality of the services commissioned
The Health & Safety Committee
reviews health & safety risks and
ensures the health & safety of the
workforce and any persons working
or visiting the premises
The Information Governance
Committee reviews information
governance risks and issues,
including data losses, IT security,
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
obligations under the Data Protection
Act 1998 and progress with the IG
Toolkit assessment, action plan and
submission. The latter also monitored
by the Audit Committee.
The work of regulatory bodies such
as Monitor and the Care Quality
Commission - their inspection reports
provided assurance on the quality
and governance of our provider
organisations and services and help
triangulate local information.
The work of the Local Counter Fraud
Specialist.
The Serious Incident (SI) process

for reporting and investigating
serious incidents and robust
monitoring of action plans to ensure
recommendations are put into
practice and risk mitigated.
• Internal Audit provides an
independent, objective opinion on
the degree to which governance
and risk management supports the
achievement of the organisation’s
objectives. The Head of Internal
Audit, in accordance with NHS
Internal Audit Standards, was
required to provide an annual
opinion of the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the organisation’s
system of internal control, covering
the whole financial year. For 201314 the opinion stated that good
assurance could be given, as a
generally sound system of internal
control is in place, designed to meet
the organisation’s objectives, and
controls are generally being applied
consistently and effectively, with
only minor areas for improvement
identified.
• Within the Clinical Commissioning
Group information risk management
forms part of the wider information
governance agenda. Ultimate
responsibility rests with me as Chief
Officer and I am supported by the
Senior Information Risk Owner
(SIRO), a member of the Governing
Body. The SIRO in turn is supported

on a daily basis by the Information
Governance Manager who has
responsibility for following up on
issues in this area.
• An Information Governance Group,
chaired by the SIRO and attended
by staff from all areas, meets every
other month. This group discusses
all information related issues and
makes recommendations of actions
to address them. The group provides
updates into the Audit Committee
on a regular basis.
• To support this, the Clinical
Commissioning Group has approved
a number of polices including
Information Governance Policy, IT
Security Policy and a Data Protection
Policy, which guide staff on their
responsibilities.
Review of the Effectiveness of
Governance, Risk Management
& Internal Control
As Accounting Officer I have
responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical
commissioning group.
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Capacity to Handle Risk
All actions contain inherent risks and
risk management is central to the
effective running of any organisation.
The Clinical Commissioning Group
therefore ensures that decisions made
on behalf of the organisation are
taken with due consideration to the
management of risks.
To achieve this, the Governing Body
must be confident that the systems,
policies and people it has put in place
are operating in a way that is effective,
are focused on key risks and driving the
delivery of the organisations objectives.
The Governing Body must also
demonstrate that it has been properly
informed, through evidence from the
Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF), that it is aware of the totality
of risk facing the organisation, and
that it has made decisions on the
management of that risk based on
all of the available evidence.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s
risk and control mechanism is described
diagrammatically (right):

Work Stream
Risk

External Assessment
& Audit + Guidance
& Alerts
Serious incidents,
Complaints, Public Health
& Quality Issues

CCG Governing Body
owns Risks & the Chief
Officers Team reviews
and manages the Risk
Register and GBAF

Public & Stakeholder
Engagement

Business & Service
Delivery Plans

Individual Risks jointly
managed by designated
Chief Officers & GP Leads

Governing Body
Assurance Framework

Overview & Scrutiny by
the Audit Committee

Assurance to the
Governing Body

The GBAF is built around the Risk
Register and from which the relevant
strategic risks are drawn. Whilst
appropriately rated strategic risks will
automatically migrate to the GBAF,
the Governing Body, with additional
oversight provided by the Audit
Committee, determines whether or not
any other risks from the Risk Register
should be transferred to the GBAF
even if they have a RAG score of below
15 but are considered strategically
significant.
Incident and risk reporting is actively
encouraged across the Clinical
Commissioning Group and relevant
reports are recorded on an integrated
risk reporting system called ‘Sentinel’,
this being managed within the
Chief Corporate Services Officer’s
department.
As a working document, the GBAF is
updated monthly by the Chief Officers
and reviewed by the Governing Body
and the Audit Committee at each of
their meetings, the former in public.
Risks arising from the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s daily operations
can result in less than optimum quality
of service, financial loss, disruption
of normal operations, accidents and
injuries or adverse publicity. The
likelihood of these events occurring
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and the potential extent of their impact
depend on the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s practices, processes and culture
as well as external influences.
A key aim of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s risk
management arrangements is the
continued reduction of risk through the
greater understanding and involvement
of staff at all levels of the organisation.
In order to support this, anybody who
identifies a potential or actual risk
can report their concerns directly to
their line manager, a Chief Officer or
the Information Governance and Risk
Manager by submitting a completed
Risk Report Form; indeed all employees
have a duty to do so.
Review of Effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control is informed
by the work of the internal auditors
and the executive managers and clinical
leads within the clinical commissioning
group who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have
drawn on performance information
available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the
external auditors in their management
letter and other reports.

The Board Assurance Framework itself
provides me with evidence that the
effectiveness of controls that manage
risks to the clinical commissioning
group achieving its principles objectives
have been reviewed.

HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION
ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE
SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL
AT WEST SUFFOLK CLINICAL
COMMISSIONING GROUP FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2014

I have been advised on the implications
of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal
control by the Governing Body, the
Audit Committee and risk/ clinical
governance/ quality committee, if
appropriate and a plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the system is in place.

Roles and responsibilities

Following completion of the planned
audit work for the financial year for
the clinical commissioning group,
the Head of Internal Audit issued an
independent and objective opinion on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the
clinical commissioning group’s system
of risk management, governance and
internal control. The Head of Internal
Audit concluded that:

The Annual Governance Statement
(AGS) is an annual statement by the
Accountable Officer, on behalf of the
Governing Body, setting out:

The whole Governing Body is
collectively accountable for maintaining
a sound system of internal control
and is responsible for putting in place
arrangements for gaining assurance
about the effectiveness of that overall
system.

• how the individual responsibilities
of the Accountable Officer are
discharged with regard to maintaining
a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of
policies, aims and objectives;
• the purpose of the system of internal
control as evidenced by a description
of the risk management and review
processes, including the Assurance
Framework process;
• the conduct and results of the review
of the effectiveness of the system
of internal control including any

disclosures of significant control
failures together with assurances that
actions are or will be taken where
appropriate to address issues arising.
The organisation’s Assurance
Framework should bring together all of
the evidence required to support the
AGS requirements.
In accordance with NHS Internal Audit
Standards and Public Sector Internal
Audit Standards, the Head of Internal
Audit (HoIA) is required to provide
an annual opinion, based upon and
limited to the work performed, on the
overall adequacy and effectiveness of
the organisation’s risk management,
control and governance processes (i.e.
the organisation’s system of internal
control). This is achieved through
a risk-based plan of work, agreed
with management and approved by
the Audit Committee, which should
provide a reasonable level of assurance,
subject to the inherent limitations
described below. The opinion does
not imply that Internal Audit have
reviewed all risks and assurances
relating to the organisation. The
opinion is substantially derived from the
conduct of risk-based plans generated
from a robust and organisation-led
Assurance Framework. As such, it is one
component that the Governing Body
takes into account in making its AGS.
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The Head of Internal Audit Opinion
The purpose of my annual HoIA
Opinion is to contribute to the
assurances available to the Accountable
Officer and the Governing Body which
underpin the Governing Body’s own
assessment of the effectiveness of
the organisation’s system of internal
control. This Opinion will in turn assist
the Governing Body in the completion
of its AGS.
My opinion is set out as follows:
1. Overall opinion;
2. Basis for the opinion;
3. Commentary.
My overall opinion is that
Good assurance can be given as a
generally sound system of internal
control is in place, designed to meet the
organisation’s objectives, and controls
are generally being applied consistently
and effectively, with only minor
improvements identified.
The basis for forming my opinion is as
follows:
1. An assessment of the design and
operation of the underpinning
Assurance Framework and
supporting processes; and

2. An assessment of the range of
individual opinions arising from riskbased audit assignments contained
within internal audit risk-based plans
that have been reported throughout
the year. This assessment has taken
account of the relative materiality
of these areas and management’s
progress in respect of addressing
control weaknesses.
3. Any reliance that is being placed
upon third party assurances.
The commentary below provides the
context for my opinion and together
with the opinion should be read in its
entirety.
The design and operation of
the Assurance Framework and
associated processes
An Assurance Framework has been
established which is designed and
operating to meet the requirements
of the 2013/14 AGS and to provide
reasonable assurance that there is an
effective system of internal control to
manage the principal risks identified by
the organisation.

The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments,
contained within risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the
year.
The risk-based plan was constructed from the Assurance Framework and Risk
Registers, essential audit coverage of fundamental systems, other areas of client
concern, accumulated internal audit knowledge and experience and other risk
assessment processes (audit needs assessment). The plan is monitored by the Audit
Committee who have been effective in discharging their duties in accordance with
the Audit Committee Handbook.
The effectiveness of the controls operating in each system examined has been rated
according to the scheme set out below.
Rating
Excellent
		
		

Explanation of Rating
There is a sound system of internal control in place, and the
controls are being consistently and effectively applied in all
the areas reviewed.

Good
		
		

There is a generally sound system of internal control in place 		
in the areas reviewed, and the controls are generally being applied 		
consistently and effectively, with only minor improvements identified.

Satisfactory
		
		
		

There is a generally sound system of internal control in place in
the areas reviewed, and the controls are generally being applied
consistently and effectively. However some areas for improvement
were identified.

Limited
		
		

There are weaknesses within the system of internal control, and/or
key controls are not being applied consistently or effectively in the
areas reviewed, which may adversely impact on the organisation.

Unacceptable
		
		

Serious weaknesses in the design and/or, inconsistent or ineffective
application of controls in the areas reviewed, which may adversely
impact on the organisation.

There have been no limitations of scope or coverage placed upon internal audit work
during the year.
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The following table contains my
opinion of the work carried out by
Internal Audit during the year on the
effectiveness of the management
of those principal risks identified
within the organisation’s Assurance
Framework. On this basis it is my
opinion that for the identified principal
risks covered by Internal Audit work
the Governing Body has the following
assurance:

CCG Ambition		

Assurance and Relevant Audit Reports

To deliver the highest
quality health service
in West Suffolk through
integrated working
		
		
		
		
		
		
		

Good Assurance
13/01 Safeguarding - Looked After Children
13/03 NICE Implementation follow-up
13/06 Procurement - Non Clinical Contracts
13/08 Financial Systems
13/07 Code of Business Conduct
& Conflict of Interest
13/10 HR - Recruitment
13/11 Governing Body Assurance 			
Framework

		

Satisfactory

		
		
		

13/09 Payroll
13/11 Risk Management
13/12 Compliance with Constitution

		

Limited

		

13/04 Continuing Health Care

Areas that have been reviewed by internal audit through the year but are not
reflected in the assurance framework are detailed in the following table.
Audit Area

Assurance

13/02 Clinical Governance Overview

Advisory

Reliance placed upon third party
assurances
Account has also been taken of the
results of work carried out by the Trust’s
Local Counter Fraud Specialist during
the year.
Name: N Abbott
Date: 16th May 2014
Head of Internal Audit
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During the year the Internal Audit issued the following audit reports with a conclusion of limited assurance:
• Continuing Healthcare (CHC)
The agreed action plan resulting from this audit is below:
Recommendations(s)
Recommendation
1. Policies and Procedures covering the
CHC Management and Administration
processes should be compiled and
approved as soon as possible. For
example, the 28 day assessment
period should be stated as a target to
achieve or where this is not possible
in the current processes then a policy
decision should be recorded allowing
some flexibility on this timeframe.

Rating
Low

Risk of Non Compliance
Without these documents in place staff
are unaware of the agreed procedures to
be followed for CHC Management and
Administration.
Non-compliance with the NHS
Framework.

Agreed
Yes/No/
Partial
Yes

Manager Responsible
and Response

Due
Date

Follow
Up Date

Susan Barker

March
2014

June
2014

Procedures have been continuously
developed during the year and IT options
are being looked at to improve the
system in January 2014. A Policy and
Procedures will be done after this.
Jacqueline Hanratty
The National Framework has been fully
adopted by the CHC team to deliver the
commissioning function of CHC on behalf
of Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG and
West Suffolk CCG.

March
2014

The organisations will ratify Framework
as a policy, establish operational
procedures to assure a consistent
approach.

June
2014

The organisation will conduct an audit
to review implementation effectiveness.

Sept
2014
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Recommendations(s)
Recommendation

Rating

Risk of Non Compliance

2. The structure of the Business Support
function should be reviewed to
ensure a deputy to the Business
Support Manager is in place and that
the current structure has both the
capacity and robustness to support
the clinical teams

Medium

The support provided by the Business
Support function must be able to
demonstrate capacity and robustness to
fully discharge its duties to the clinical
support teams.

Agreed
Yes/No/
Partial
Yes

Manager Responsible
and Response

Due
Date

Follow
Up Date

Susan Barker

March
2014

June
2014

A Deputy is currently in place but this
is a rather loose arrangement and
administration procedures and functions
need to be in place to support the clinical
teams. This is currently being reviewed.
There is also a plan for a dedicated data
analyst to support the team following the
finance re-organisation.
Jacqueline Hanratty
A dedicated Role in Safeguarding
reporting to Head of Clinical & Patient
Experience will be recruited to.

March
2014

Appoint to Duty Desk dedicated post to
improve compliance to CHC checklist
standards.

March
2014

A business case for additional resource
in project management and project
support to ensure implementation of
organisational policy and procedures.

Feb
2014

Implementation of CHC personal health.
Budgets pilot supported by above fixed
term posts.

June
2014
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Recommendations(s)
Recommendation
3. A full assessment and publication of
results and then continual monitoring
must be undertaken to establish a
current position of where the team
currently sits in relation to the 28 day
assessment target. An action plan
should then be compiled in order to
ensure that the actual assessment
period is moving closer to the 28
days as stated in the CHC framework
document.

Rating
High

Risk of Non Compliance
Failure to comply with the NHS CHC
Framework.
Failure to address both clinical and
financial risk of a case within the 28 day
period.

Agreed
Yes/No/
Partial
Yes

Manager Responsible
and Response

Due
Date

Follow
Up Date

Barbara McLean/Susan Barker

March
2014

June
2014

The current IT project is underway as we
have limited capability to run reports
due to no data warehouse function, we
cannot assess workflow, assessment
timescales, assessment targets review
triggers etc., this will be reported with
full business options for the clinical execs
in Jan, the data warehouse is being
implemented with our current provider
immediately.
Jacqueline Hanratty
Reports to show financial
and performance data
Agree communication strategy
and delivery points

January
2014
April
2014
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Recommendations(s)
Recommendation
4. An action plan is compiled in order
to ensure that the three month
assessments and subsequent twelve
month assessments are being
undertaken for current cases in
accordance with the CHC framework
instructions.

Rating
High

Risk of Non Compliance
Failure to comply with the NHS CHC
Framework.

Agreed
Yes/No/
Partial
Yes

Due
Date

Follow
Up Date

Barbara McLean/Susan Barker

March
2014

June
2014

As per recommendation three
Failure to address both clinical and
financial risk of cases that have not had
the three month and subsequent twelve
month assessments.

Jacqueline Hanratty
Agree team objectives of the 1 year
improvement trajectory to achieve
compliance to National framework
targets.

For all new cases the assessments
must be undertaken in accordance
with the CHC framework instructions.
5. The activity per clinical assessor
continues to be established by the
Business Support Manager and then
this is reported on a weekly/monthly
basis as part of the performance
reporting. This recommendation links
with recommendation two above.

Manager Responsible
and Response

Medium

Without such an assessment in place
then workloads cannot be managed
appropriately and resources targeted
to reduce any backlog of applications.

Yes

Susan Barker
Activity per clinical member is part of
the weekly monitoring and reporting
requirements for each of the team leader
supported by the BSM and administration
processes have been put in place to
support the clinical staff in achieving
more assessments to be completed per
person and the current agreed target is
5 DSTs per week.

March
2014

December
2014

January
2015
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Recommendations(s)
Recommendation

Rating

6. The project to test the Broadcare
system is completed along with a
review of its resilience and robustness
in the event of a system failure.

High

7. That the performance statistics
as currently reported on a weekly
basis are covered by the notation
that these statistics are compiled
in the knowledge that the 28 day
assessment target, the three month
assessment and subsequent twelve
month assessments are not in place.
This recommendation is made in
conjunction with recommendations
three and four above.

High

8. That the Governing Body and/or the
Executive team implement a reporting
mechanism to the CCG Collaborative
Group which is based upon achieving
agreed KPI’s and the satisfaction of
an agreed action plan in order to
reduce the GBAF risk for CHC.

High

Risk of Non Compliance

Agreed
Yes/No/
Partial

Lack of assurance on the integrity and
resilience of the Broadcare system which
is critical CHC service.

Manager Responsible
and Response

Due
Date

Follow
Up Date

Jacqueline Hanratty

January
2014

June
2014

February
2014

June
2014

Governing Body or Executive Team
Jacqueline Hanratty

February
2014

June
2014

Executives officers will review targets,
activity and financial status a minimum
of 2 weekly. Frequency to be reviewed in
3 months

January
2014

Resilience testing is expected to be
completed by the end of the month

The weekly statistics although agreed
to Broadcare are actually incorrect and
do not provide a true position of each
individual case.

Yes

That without a reporting framework
which provides clarity of progress against
agreed KPI’s and actions then the GBAF
risk will not be addressed.

Yes

Susan Barker
Reviews at 12 months, of both FNC and
CHC are in place. Reviews at 3 months
are part of the ongoing development of
the service, when the assessment backlog
is cleared. The Fast track processs is
now compliant and reviews will now
commence to enable learning and service
development as life expectancy for Fast
track clients is extending beyond the
described Fast track process. Broadcare
does not allow you to track this and this
is forming part of the IT project.
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Data Quality
The Governing Body regularly receives
an Integrated Performance report
that contains large volumes of data.
The report provides members with a
summary of performance for against
national targets, contractual targets,
clinical quality and patient safety issues,
financial position and acute activity.
The data is presented as an executive
dashboard and then drills down into
considerable detail to ensure the
Governing Body is well informed and
enable to make appropriate decisions.
The Governing Body invest considerable
amounts of time at meetings reviewing
the contents of the Integrated
Performance report and consider
that the quality of data available is
acceptable for their requirements.
Business Critical Models
An appropriate framework and
environment is in place to provide
quality assurance of business
critical models, in line with the
recommendations in the Macpherson
report. Quality assurance is vital to
ensure that business critical models are
robust. The Clinical Commissioning
Group ensures as part of its quality
assurance that the appropriate
governance is applied to its business

critical models and that NHS quality
assurance guidelines and checklists are
also applied.

associated with each of the statutory
functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation
of those functions.

Data Security
We have submitted a satisfactory level
of compliance with the information
governance toolkit assessment.
There were no Serious Untoward
Incidents relating to data security
breaches.

Responsibility for each duty and
power has been clearly allocated to
a lead Director. Directorates have
confirmed that their structures
provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical
commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Discharge of Statutory Functions

Conclusion

During establishment, the arrangements
put in place by the clinical
commissioning group and explained
within the Corporate Governance
Framework were developed with
extensive expert external legal input,
to ensure compliance with the all
relevant legislation. That legal advice
also informed the matters reserved for
Membership Body and Governing Body
decision and the scheme of delegation.

One significant internal control issue
has been identified in the Governance
Statement of West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group in relation to
NHS Continuing Healthcare. The Clinical
Commissioning Group is in breach of
the NHS Continuing Healthcare (CHC)
Framework target for the assessment of
CHC claims. The framework target for
assessment of CHC claims is 28 days.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has
a significant backlog of claims and is
currently taking in excess of 90 days
to assess over 80% of claims. The
Governance Statement includes the
detailed action plan agreed with our
Internal Auditors after the CHC audit
they performed during the year.

In light of the Harris Review, the clinical
commissioning group has reviewed
all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended) and
other associated legislative and
regulations. As a result, I can confirm
that the clinical commissioning group is
clear about the legislative requirements

The Governance Statement also
highlights the Clinical Commissioning

Group’s key strategic risks that include
patient safety, failure to achieve
financial balance, failures in respect
of MRSA and clostridium difficile, the
impact of Serco on redesign, the West
Suffolk Hospital financial position and
the lack of patient identifiable data.

----------------------------------------------------------------

Julian Herbert
Accountable Officer
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
5 June 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WEST SUFFOLK CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

We have audited the financial
statements of West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) for the
year ended 31 March 2014 under
the Audit Commission Act 1998. The
financial statements comprise the
Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial
Position, the Statement of Changes
in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement
of Cash Flows and the related notes
1 to 44. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and
the accounting policies directed by the
Secretary of State with the consent of
the Treasury as relevant to the National
Health Service in England.
We have also audited the information
in the Remuneration Report that is
subject to audit, being:
• the table of salaries and allowances
of senior managers and related
narrative notes on pages 43 and 44;
• the table of pension benefits
of senior managers and related
narrative notes on pages 45 and 46;
and
• the pay multiples disclosure and
related narrative notes on page 44.
This report is made solely to the
members of West Suffolk CCG in
accordance with Part II of the Audit

Commission Act 1998 and for no other
purpose, as set out in paragraph 44
of the Statement of Responsibilities of
Auditors and Audited Bodies published
by the Audit Commission in March
2014. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the
members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.
Respective responsibilities of
Accountable Officer and auditors
As explained more fully in the
Statement of Accountable Officer’s
Responsibilities set out on page 54,
the Accountable Officer is responsible
for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view. Our
responsibility is to audit and express
an opinion on the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland). Those standards also
require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for
Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial
statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence
about the amounts and disclosures
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in the financial statements sufficient
to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused
by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of:

statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and
the financial transactions conform to
the authorities which govern them.

• whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the CCG’s
circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately
disclosed;
• the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the
CCG; and
• the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

In our opinion, in all material respects
the expenditure and income have
been applied to the purposes intended
by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.

In addition we read all the financial
and non-financial information in the
annual report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited
financial statements and to identify
any information that is apparently
materially incorrect based on, or
materially inconsistent with, the
knowledge acquired by us in the
course of performing the audit. If we
become aware of any apparent material
misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report.

• give a true and fair view of the
financial position of West Suffolk
CCG as at 31 March 2014 and of its
net operating costs for the year then
ended; and

In addition, we are required to obtain
evidence sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the expenditure and
income reported in the financial

Opinion on regularity

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

• have been prepared properly in
accordance with the accounting
policies directed by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the
approval of the Secretary of State.
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
• the part of the Remuneration Report
subject to audit has been prepared
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properly in accordance with the
requirements directed by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the
approval of the Secretary of State;
and
• the information given in the annual
report for the financial year for
which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the
financial statements.
Matters on which we report by
exception
We report to you if:
• in our opinion the governance
statement does not reflect
compliance with NHS England’s
Guidance;
• we refer the matter to the Secretary
of State under section 19 of the
Audit Commission Act 1998
because we have reason to believe
that the CCG, or an officer of the
CCG, is about to make, or has
made, a decision involving unlawful
expenditure, or is about to take, or
has taken, unlawful action likely to
cause a loss or deficiency; or
• we issue a report in the public
interest under section 8 of the Audit
Commission Act 1998

We have nothing to report in these
respects.

As a result, we have concluded that
there is the following matter to report:

Conclusion on the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the
use of resources

• The CCG has breached the 28 day
assessment period for a received
claim as stipulated within the NHS
CHC Framework as a result of a
backlog of Continuing Healthcare
(CHC) cases. The current average
claim assessment period for over
80% of cases is in excess of 90 days.

We are required under Section 5 of
the Audit Commission Act 1998 to
satisfy ourselves that the CCG has
made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources. We are also
required by the Audit Commission’s
Code of Audit Practice to report any
matters that prevent us being satisfied
that the audited body has put in place
such arrangements.
We have undertaken our audit in
accordance with the Code of Audit
Practice and, having regard to
the guidance issued by the Audit
Commission in October 2013, we have
considered the results of the following:
• our review of the Annual
Governance Statement;
• the work of other relevant regulatory
bodies or inspectorates, to the extent
the results of the work have an
impact on our responsibilities at the
CCG; and
• our locally determined risk-based
work.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed
the audit of the accounts of West
Suffolk CCG in accordance with
the requirements of the Audit
Commission Act 1998 and the Code
of Audit Practice issued by the Audit
Commission.

----------------------------------------------------------------

Mark Hodgson
for and on behalf of
Ernst & Young LLP Cambridge
5 June 2014
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2014		
		2013-14
Note
£000

		2013-14
Note
£000

Commissioning
Other Operating Revenue
2
Gross Employee Benefits
4
Other costs
5
Net operating costs before Financing		

(9,039)
7,880
271,847
270,688

Of which:
Administration Costs
Other Operating Revenue
2
Gross Employee Benefits
4
Other Costs
5
Net Administration Costs before Financing		

Financing
Investment revenue
8
Other (gains)/losses
9
Finance costs
10
Net Operating Costs for the Financial Year		

270,688

Net (Gain)/Loss on Transfer by Absorption
11
Retained Net Operating Costs for the Financial Year 		

270,688

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Impairments and reversals		
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment		
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles		
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets		
Movements in other reserves		
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets		
Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale		
Re-measurement of the defined benefit liability		
Reclassification Adjustments:
On disposal of available for sale financial assets		
Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the Year		

270,688

(6,394)
7,333
4,269
5,208

Programme Expenditure
Other Operating Revenue
2
(2,645)
Gross Employee Benefits
4
547
Other Costs
5
267,578
Net Programme Expenditure before Interest		
265,480
		

NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14
Page 86

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2014
31 March 2014
Note
£000

31 March 2014
Note
£000
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
13
Intangible assets
14
Investment property
15
Trade and other receivables
17
Other financial assets
18
Total non-current assets		

14
14

Current assets:
Inventories
16
Trade and other receivables
17
Other financial assets
18
Other current assets
19
Cash and cash equivalents
20
Total current assets		

3,385
156
3,541

Non-current assets held for sale

21

-

Total current assets		
Total assets		

3,541
3,555

Non-current liabilities:
Trade and other payables
23
Other financial liabilities
24
Other liabilities
25
Borrowings
26
Provisions
30
Total non-current liabilities		

-

Total Assets Employed		

(13,833)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund		
Revaluation reserve		
Other reserves		
Charitable Reserves		
Total taxpayers’ equity:		

(13,833)
(13,833)

The notes on pages 89 to 121 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 85 to 121 were approved by the Governing Body
Current liabilities
on 4th June 2014 and signed on its behalf by:
Trade and other payables
23
15,581
Other financial liabilities
24
Other liabilities
25
Borrowings
26
---------------------------------------------------------------Provisions
30
1,807
Julian Herbert
Total current liabilities		
17,388
Accountable Officer
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
Total Assets less Current Liabilities		
(13,833)
5 June 2014
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 31 March 2014

CCG 2013-14
CCG Balance at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS Bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2013
Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Net operating costs for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred under absorption
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Re-measurement of the defined benefit liability
Net recognised CCG expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
CCG Balance at 31 March 2014

General Revaluation
fund
Reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

15
15

-

-

15
15

(270,688)

-

- (270,688)

-

-

-

(270,673)
256,840)
(13,833)

-

- (270,673)
- 256,840)
- (13,833)

-
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
		2013-14
Note
£000

		2013-14
Note
£000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating costs for the financial year		
Depreciation and amortisation		
Impairments and reversals		
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange		
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash		
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid		
Release of PFI deferred credit		
(Increase)/decrease in inventories		
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables		
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets		
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities		
Provisions utilised		
Increase/(decrease) in provisions		
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities		

Loans made in respect of LIFT		
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT		
Rental revenue		
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities		

(270,688)
1
(3,385)
15,581
(34)
1,841
(256,684)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received		
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment		
(Payments) for intangible assets		
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health		
(Payments) for other financial assets		
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)		
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets		
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health		
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets		
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)		

-

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing		
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net funding received
Other loans received		
Other loans repaid		
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases
and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT		
Capital grants and other capital receipts		
Capital receipts surrendered		
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities		

(256,684)
256,840
256,840

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents		

156

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year		

-

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash
and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies		Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts)
at the End of the Financial Year		

156
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Notes to the financial statements
1.
Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that
the financial statements of clinical
commissioning groups shall meet
the accounting requirements of the
Manual for Accounts issued by the
Department of Health. Consequently,
the following financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with
the Manual for Accounts 2013-14
issued by the Department of Health.
The accounting policies contained
in the Manual for Accounts follow
International Financial Reporting
Standards to the extent that they are
meaningful and appropriate to clinical
commissioning groups, as determined
by HM Treasury, which is advised
by the Financial Reporting Advisory
Board. Where the Manual for Accounts
permits a choice of accounting
policy, the accounting policy which is
judged to be most appropriate to the
particular circumstances of the clinical
commissioning group for the purpose
of giving a true and fair view has been
selected. The particular policies adopted
by the clinical commissioning group
are described below. They have been
applied consistently in dealing with
items considered material in relation to
the accounts.

In accordance with the Directions
issued by NHS England comparative
information is not provided in these
Financial Statements.

of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and
certain financial assets and financial
liabilities.

1.1
Going Concern

1.3
Acquisitions & Discontinued
Operations

These accounts have been prepared on
the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be
going concerns where the continuation
of the provision of a service in the
future is anticipated, as evidenced by
inclusion of financial provision for that
service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group
ceases to exist, it considers whether
or not its services will continue to
be provided (using the same assets,
by another public sector entity) in
determining whether to use the
concept of going concern for the final
set of Financial Statements. If services
will continue to be provided the
financial statements are prepared on
the going concern basis.
1.2
Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared
under the historical cost convention
modified to account for the revaluation

Activities are considered to be
‘acquired’ only if they are taken on
from outside the public sector. Activities
are considered to be ‘discontinued’
only if they cease entirely. They are not
considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they
transfer from one public sector body to
another.
1.4
Movement of Assets within the
Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation
fall to be accounted for by use of
absorption accounting in line with
the Government Financial Reporting
Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The
Government Financial Reporting
Manual does not require retrospective
adoption, so prior year transactions
(which have been accounted for
under merger accounting) have not
been restated. Absorption accounting
requires that entities account for their
transactions in the period in which they
took place, with no restatement of

performance required when functions
transfer within the public sector. Where
assets and liabilities transfer, the gain
or loss resulting is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, and is disclosed separately
from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities
within the Department of Health Group
are accounted for in line with IAS 20
and similarly give rise to income and
expenditure entries.
For transfers of assets and liabilities
from those NHS bodies that closed
on 1 April 2013, HM Treasury has
agreed that a modified absorption
approach should be applied. For these
transactions only, gains and losses
are recognised in reserves rather than
the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure.
The accounting arrangements for
balances transferred from predecessor
PCTs (“legacy” balances) are
determined by the Accounts Direction
issued by NHS England on 12 February
2014. The Accounts Directions state
that the only legacy balances to
be accounted for by the CCG are
in respect of property, plant and
equipment (and related liabilities) and
inventories. All other legacy balances
in respect of assets or liabilities arising
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from transactions or delivery of care
prior to 31 March 2013 are accounted
for by NHS England. The impact of
the legacy balances accounted for by
the CCG is disclosed in note 11 to
these financial statements. The CCG’s
arrangements in respect of settling
NHS Continuing Healthcare claims are
disclosed in note 30 to these financial
statements.
1.5
Charitable Funds
From 2013-14, the divergence from
the Government Financial Reporting
Manual that NHS Charitable Funds
are not consolidated with bodies’
own returns is removed. Under the
provisions of IAS 27: Consolidated
& Separate Financial Statements,
those Charitable Funds that fall under
common control with NHS bodies
are consolidated within the entities’
accounts.
1.6
Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group
has entered into a pooled budget
arrangement under Section 75 of the
National Health Service Act 2006 the
clinical commissioning group accounts
for its share of the assets, liabilities,
income and expenditure arising from

the activities of the pooled budget,
identified in accordance with the
pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group
is in a “jointly controlled operation”,
the clinical commissioning group
recognises:
• The assets the clinical commissioning
group controls;
• The liabilities the clinical
commissioning group incurs;
• The expenses the clinical
commissioning group incurs; and,
• The clinical commissioning group’s
share of the income from the pooled
budget activities.
If the clinical commissioning group is
involved in a “jointly controlled assets”
arrangement, in addition to the above,
the clinical commissioning group
recognises:
• The clinical commissioning group’s
share of the jointly controlled assets
(classified according to the nature of
the assets);
• The clinical commissioning group’s
share of any liabilities incurred
jointly; and,
• The clinical commissioning group’s
share of the expenses jointly
incurred.

1.7
Critical Accounting Judgements
& Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical
commissioning group’s accounting
policies, management is required to
make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from those estimates and the
estimates and underlying assumptions
are continually reviewed. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
1.7.1
Critical Judgements in Applying
Accounting Policies
There are no critical judgements, apart
from those involving estimations (see
below) that management has made
in the process of applying the clinical
commissioning group’s accounting
policies that have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
1.7.2
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations
that management has made in
the process of applying the clinical
commissioning group’s accounting
policies that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
Estimates in respect of February and
March 2014 actual prescribing costs
were calculated using the Prescription
Pricing Authority profile. The carrying
amount of the liability at the Statement
of Financial Position date was £6.4m.
Significant provisions are included in
the 2013-2014 accounts in respect of
Continuing Healthcare. These provisions
relate to backlog cases (business as
usual). The carrying amount of the
liability at the Statement of Financial
Position date was £1.7m. See Provisions
Note 30 for further details.
1.8
Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided
is recognised when, and to the extent
that, performance occurs, and is
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measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific
activity that is to be delivered in the
following year, that income is deferred.
1.9
Employee Benefits
1.9.1
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employmentrelated payments are recognised in the
period in which the service is received
from employees, including bonuses
earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken
by employees at the end of the period
is recognised in the financial statements
to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into
the following period.
1.9.2
Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered
by the provisions of the NHS Pensions
Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS
employers, General Practices and other
bodies, allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State, in England and

Wales. The scheme is not designed to
be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted
for as if it were a defined contribution
scheme: the cost to the clinical
commissioning group of participating
in the scheme is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to the scheme for
the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those
due to ill health the additional pension
liabilities are not funded by the scheme.
The full amount of the liability for
the additional costs is charged to
expenditure at the time the clinical
commissioning group commits itself
to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
1.10
Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are
recognised when, and to the extent
that, the goods or services have been
received. They are measured at the fair
value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of
grants are recognised when the clinical
commissioning group has a present legal
or constructive obligation, which occurs
when all of the conditions attached to
the payment have been met.

1.11
Property, Plant & Equipment
1.11.1
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is
capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services
or for administrative purposes;
• It is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to, or service
potential will be supplied to the
clinical commissioning group;
• It is expected to be used for more
than one financial year;
• The cost of the item can be
measured reliably; and,
• The item has a cost of at least
£5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of items
have a cost of at least £5,000 and
individually have a cost of more
than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they
had broadly simultaneous purchase
dates, are anticipated to have
simultaneous disposal dates and are
under single managerial control; or,
• Items form part of the initial
equipping and setting-up cost
of a new building, ward or unit,
irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example
a building, includes a number of
components with significantly different
asset lives, the components are treated
as separate assets and depreciated over
their own useful economic lives.
1.11.2
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are
measured initially at cost, representing
the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset
and bringing it to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by
management. All assets are measured
subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the clinical
commissioning group’s services or for
administrative purposes are stated in
the statement of financial position at
their re-valued amounts, being the fair
value at the date of revaluation less any
impairment.
Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity to ensure that
carrying amounts are not materially
different from those that would be
determined at the end of the reporting
period. Fair values are determined as
follows:
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• Land and non-specialised buildings market value for existing use; and,
• Specialised buildings - depreciated
replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard
approach to depreciated replacement
cost valuations based on modern
equivalent assets and, where it would
meet the location requirements of the
service being provided, an alternative
site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction
for service or administration purposes
are carried at cost, less any impairment
loss. Cost includes professional fees
but not borrowing costs, which are
recognised as expenses immediately,
as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held
at fair value. Assets are re-valued and
depreciation commences when they are
brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at
depreciated historic cost as this is not
considered to be materially different
from fair value.
An increase arising on revaluation is
taken to the revaluation reserve except
when it reverses an impairment for
the same asset previously recognised
in expenditure, in which case it is
credited to expenditure to the extent
of the decrease previously charged

there. A revaluation decrease that does
not result from a loss of economic
value or service potential is recognised
as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that
there is a balance on the reserve for the
asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a
clear consumption of economic benefit
are taken to expenditure. Gains and
losses recognised in the revaluation
reserve are reported as other
comprehensive income in the Statement
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.11.3
Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure
enhances an asset beyond its original
specification, the directly attributable
cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its
original specification, the expenditure
is capitalised and any existing carrying
value of the item replaced is written-out
and charged to operating expenses.
1.12
Intangible Assets
1.12.1
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary
assets without physical substance,

which are capable of sale separately
from the rest of the clinical
commissioning group’s business or
which arise from contractual or other
legal rights. They are recognised only:
• When it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to, or
service potential be provided to, the
clinical commissioning group;
• Where the cost of the asset can be
measured reliably; and,
• Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Intangible assets acquired separately
are initially recognised at fair value.
Software that is integral to the
operating of hardware, for example
an operating system, is capitalised as
part of the relevant item of property,
plant and equipment. Software that
is not integral to the operation of
hardware, for example application
software, is capitalised as an intangible
asset. Expenditure on research is
not capitalised but is recognised as
an operating expense in the period
in which it is incurred. Internallygenerated assets are recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:
• The technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use;
• The intention to complete the

intangible asset and use it;
• The ability to sell or use the
intangible asset;
• How the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic
benefits or service potential;
• The availability of adequate
technical, financial and other
resources to complete the intangible
asset and sell or use it; and,
• The ability to measure reliably
the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its
development.
1.12.2
Measurement
The amount initially recognised for
internally-generated intangible assets
is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the criteria
above are initially met. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset
can be recognised, the expenditure is
recognised in the period in which it is
incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible
assets are carried at fair value by
reference to an active market, or, where
no active market exists, at amortised
replacement cost (modern equivalent
assets basis), indexed for relevant price
increases, as a proxy for fair value.
Internally-developed software is held
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at historic cost to reflect the opposing
effects of increases in development
costs and technological advances.
1.13
Depreciation, Amortisation
& Impairments
Freehold land, properties under
construction, and assets held for sale
are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and
amortisation are charged to write off
the costs or valuation of property, plant
and equipment and intangible noncurrent assets, less any residual value,
over their estimated useful lives, in a
manner that reflects the consumption
of economic benefits or service
potential of the assets.
The estimated useful life of an asset
is the period over which the clinical
commissioning group expects to obtain
economic benefits or service potential
from the asset. This is specific to the
clinical commissioning group and may
be shorter than the physical life of the
asset itself. Estimated useful lives and
residual values are reviewed each year
end, with the effect of any changes
recognised on a prospective basis.
Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their estimated useful
lives.

At each reporting period end, the
clinical commissioning group checks
whether there is any indication that any
of its tangible or intangible non-current
assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If there is indication of an impairment
loss, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated to determine
whether there has been a loss and, if
so, its amount. Intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not
result from a loss of economic value
or service potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the revaluation
reserve to the extent that there is a
balance on the reserve for the asset
and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a
clear consumption of economic benefit
are taken to expenditure. Where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of
the recoverable amount but capped
at the amount that would have
been determined had there been no
initial impairment loss. The reversal
of the impairment loss is credited
to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there and
thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.14
Donated Assets
Donated non-current assets are
capitalised at their fair value on
receipt, with a matching credit to
Income. They are valued, depreciated
and impaired as described above for
purchased assets. Gains and losses on
revaluations, impairments and sales
are as described above for purchased
assets. Deferred income is recognised
only where conditions attached to
the donation preclude immediate
recognition of the gain.
1.15
Government Grants
The value of assets received by means
of a government grant are credited
directly to income. Deferred income
is recognised only where conditions
attached to the grant preclude
immediate recognition of the gain.
1.16
Non-current Assets Held For Sale
Non-current assets are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount
will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met when:

• The sale is highly probable;
• The asset is available for immediate
sale in its present condition; and,
• Management is committed to the
sale, which is expected to qualify
for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of
classification.
Non-current assets held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous
carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. Fair value is open market
value including alternative uses.
The profit or loss arising on disposal of
an asset is the difference between the
sale proceeds and the carrying amount
and is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure. On
disposal, the balance for the asset on
the revaluation reserve is transferred to
the general reserve.
Property, plant and equipment that is
to be scrapped or demolished does not
qualify for recognition as held for sale.
Instead, it is retained as an operational
asset and its economic life is adjusted.
The asset is de-recognised when it is
scrapped or demolished.
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1.17
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases
when substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are transferred to
the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.
1.17.1
The Clinical Commissioning Group
as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held
under finance leases are initially
recognised, at the inception of the
lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease
payments, with a matching liability for
the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease
payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of
the lease obligation so as to achieve
a constant rate on interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are recognised in
calculating the clinical commissioning
group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are
recognised as an expense on a straightline basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction
of rentals on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

1.18
Private Finance Initiative
Transactions

Where a lease is for land and buildings,
the land and building components are
separated and individually assessed
as to whether they are operating or
finance leases.

HM Treasury has determined that
government bodies shall account
for infrastructure Private Finance
Initiative (PFI) schemes where the
government body controls the use
of the infrastructure and the residual
interest in the infrastructure at the
end of the arrangement as service
concession arrangements, following the
principles of the requirements of IFRIC
12. The clinical commissioning group
therefore recognises the PFI asset as an
item of property, plant and equipment
together with a liability to pay for it.
The services received under the contract
are recorded as operating expenses.

1.17.2
The Clinical Commissioning Group
as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under
finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the clinical
commissioning group’s net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is
allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return
on the clinical commissioning group’s
net investment outstanding in respect
of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The annual unitary payment is
separated into the following
component parts, using appropriate
estimation techniques where necessary:
• Payment for the fair value of services
received;
• Payment for the PFI asset, including
finance costs; and,
• Payment for the replacement of
components of the asset during the
contract ‘lifecycle replacement’.

1.18.1
Services Received
The fair value of services received in
the year is recorded under the relevant
expenditure headings within ‘operating
expenses’.
1.18.2
PFI Asset
The PFI assets are recognised as property,
plant and equipment, when they come
into use. The assets are measured initially
at fair value in accordance with the
principles of IAS17. Subsequently, the
assets are measured at fair value, which
is kept up to date in accordance with the
clinical commissioning group’s approach
for each relevant class of asset in
accordance with the principles of IAS 16.
1.18.3
PFI Liability
A PFI liability is recognised at the same
time as the PFI assets are recognised. It
is measured initially at the same amount
as the fair value of the PFI assets and
is subsequently measured as a finance
lease liability in accordance with IAS 17.
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An annual finance cost is calculated
by applying the implicit interest rate in
the lease to the opening lease liability
for the period, and is charged to
‘finance costs’ within the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
The element of the annual unitary
payment that is allocated as a finance
lease rental is applied to meet the
annual finance cost and to repay the
lease liability over the contract term.
An element of the annual unitary
payment increase due to cumulative
indexation is allocated to the finance
lease. In accordance with IAS 17, this
amount is not included in the minimum
lease payments, but is instead treated
as contingent rent and is expensed as
incurred. In substance, this amount is
a finance cost in respect of the liability
and the expense is presented as a
contingent finance cost in the Statement
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.18.4
Lifecycle Replacement
Components of the asset replaced
by the operator during the contract
(‘lifecycle replacement’) are capitalised
where they meet the clinical
commissioning group’s criteria for
capital expenditure. They are capitalised
at the time they are provided by the

operator and are measured initially at
their fair value.
The element of the annual unitary
payment allocated to lifecycle
replacement is pre-determined for
each year of the contract from the
operator’s planned programme of
lifecycle replacement. Where the
lifecycle component is provided earlier
or later than expected, a short-term
finance lease liability or prepayment is
recognised respectively.
Where the fair value of the lifecycle
component is less than the amount
determined in the contract, the
difference is recognised as an expense
when the replacement is provided.
If the fair value is greater than the
amount determined in the contract,
the difference is treated as a ‘free’
asset and a deferred income balance
is recognised. The deferred income is
released to the operating income over
the shorter of the remaining contract
period or the useful economic life of
the replacement component.
1.18.5
Assets Contributed by the Clinical
Commissioning Group to the Operator
For Use in the Scheme
Assets contributed for use in the
scheme continue to be recognised as

items of property, plant and equipment
in the clinical commissioning group’s
Statement of Financial Position.
1.18.6
Other Assets Contributed by the Clinical
Commissioning Group to the Operator
Assets contributed (e.g. cash payments,
surplus property) by the clinical
commissioning group to the operator
before the asset is brought into use,
which are intended to defray the
operator’s capital costs, are recognised
initially as prepayments during the
construction phase of the contract.
Subsequently, when the asset is made
available to the clinical commissioning
group, the prepayment is treated as
an initial payment towards the finance
lease liability and is set against the
carrying value of the liability.
1.19
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower
of cost and net realisable value using
the first-in first-out cost formula.
This is considered to be a reasonable
approximation to fair value due to the
high turnover of stocks.

1.20
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits
with any financial institution repayable
without penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months
or less from the date of acquisition and
that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash with insignificant risk
of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash
and cash equivalents are shown net of
bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part
of the clinical commissioning group’s
cash management.
1.21
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the
clinical commissioning group has a
present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the clinical commissioning group
will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. The
amount recognised as a provision is
the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties.
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Where a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the
obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows using
HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

restructuring and not associated with
on-going activities of the entity.

• Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years
inclusive): Minus 1.90%
• Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years
inclusive): Minus 0.65%
• Timing of cash flows (over 10 years):
Plus 2.20%
• All employee early departures:1.80%

The NHS Litigation Authority operates
a risk pooling scheme under which
the clinical commissioning group pays
an annual contribution to the NHS
Litigation Authority which in return
settles all clinical negligence claims. The
contribution is charged to expenditure.
Although the NHS Litigation Authority
is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases the legal
liability remains with the clinical
commissioning group.

When some or all of the economic
benefits required to settle a provision
are expected to be recovered from a
third party, the receivable is recognised
as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursements will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be
measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised
when the clinical commissioning group
has developed a detailed formal plan
for the restructuring and has raised
a valid expectation in those affected
that it will carry out the restructuring
by starting to implement the plan or
announcing its main features to those
affected by it. The measurement of a
restructuring provision includes only
the direct expenditures arising from the
restructuring, which are those amounts
that are both necessarily entailed by the

1.22
Clinical Negligence Costs

1.23
Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group
participates in the Property Expenses
Scheme and the Liabilities to Third
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical
commissioning group pays an annual
contribution to the NHS Litigation
Authority and, in return, receives
assistance with the costs of claims
arising. The annual membership
contributions, and any excesses payable
in respect of particular claims are
charged to operating expenses as and
when they become due.

1.24
Carbon Reduction Commitment
Scheme
Carbon Reduction Commitment and
similar allowances are accounted for as
government grant funded intangible
assets if they are not expected to be
realised within twelve months, and
otherwise as other current assets. They
are valued at open market value. As
the clinical commissioning group makes
emissions, a provision is recognised with
an offsetting transfer from deferred
income. The provision is settled on
surrender of the allowances. The asset,
provision and deferred income amounts
are valued at fair value at the end of
the reporting period.
1.25
Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible
obligation that arises from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the
control of the clinical commissioning
group, or a present obligation that
is not recognised because it is not
probable that a payment will be
required to settle the obligation or the
amount of the obligation cannot be
measured sufficiently reliably.

A contingent liability is disclosed unless
the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset
that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the clinical
commissioning group. A contingent
asset is disclosed where an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is
material, contingencies are disclosed at
their present value.
1.26
Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when
the clinical commissioning group
becomes party to the financial
instrument contract or, in the case of
trade receivables, when the goods or
services have been delivered. Financial
assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the
following categories:
• Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss;
• Held to maturity investments;
• Available for sale financial assets;
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and,
• Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition.
1.26.1
Financial Assets at Fair Value
Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have
different risks and characteristics to
their host contracts, and contracts with
embedded derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained, are treated
as financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss. They are held at fair
value, with any resultant gain or loss
recognised in calculating the clinical
commissioning group’s surplus or
deficit for the year. The net gain or loss
incorporates any interest earned on the
financial asset.
1.26.2
Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are
non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity, and there is a positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity.
After initial recognition, they are held
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment.

Interest is recognised using the effective
interest method.
1.26.3
Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are
non-derivative financial assets that are
designated as available for sale or that
do not fall within any of the other three
financial asset classifications. They are
measured at fair value with changes in
value taken to the revaluation reserve,
with the exception of impairment
losses. Accumulated gains or losses
are recycled to surplus/deficit on derecognition.
1.26.4
Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments which are
not quoted in an active market. After
initial recognition, they are measured
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment.
Interest is recognised using the effective
interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to
quoted market prices where possible,
otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future

cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset, to the initial fair
value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the
clinical commissioning group assesses
whether any financial assets, other than
those held at ‘fair value through profit
and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets
are impaired and impairment losses
recognised if there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or
more events which occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset and
which has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the revised future
cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate. The loss
is recognised in expenditure and the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through a provision for impairment of
receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount
of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through expenditure to the
extent that the carrying amount of the

receivable at the date of the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised.
1.27
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on
the statement of financial position
when the clinical commissioning group
becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or,
in the case of trade payables, when the
goods or services have been received.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised
when the liability has been discharged,
that is, the liability has been paid or has
expired.
Loans from the Department of Health
are recognised at historical cost.
Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially
recognised at fair value.
1.27.1
Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are subsequently measured at the
higher of:
• The premium received (or imputed)
for entering into the guarantee less
cumulative amortisation; and,
• The amount of the obligation under
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the contract, as determined in
accordance with IAS 37: Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets.
1.27.2
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value
Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have
different risks and characteristics to
their host contracts, and contracts
with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained,
are treated as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit and loss. They are
held at fair value, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in the clinical
commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
The net gain or loss incorporates any
interest payable on the financial liability.
1.27.3
Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other
financial liabilities are measured at
amortised cost using the effective
interest method, except for loans
from Department of Health, which are
carried at historic cost. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash
payments through the life of the asset,
to the net carrying amount of the
financial liability. Interest is recognised

using the effective interest method.
1.28
Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical
commissioning group are outside
the scope of VAT and, in general,
output tax does not apply and input
tax on purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the
relevant expenditure category or
included in the capitalised purchase
cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is
charged or input VAT is recoverable, the
amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.29
Foreign Currencies
The clinical commissioning group’s
functional currency and presentational
currency is sterling. Transactions
denominated in a foreign currency
are translated into sterling at the
exchange rate ruling on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the spot exchange
rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange
gains and losses for either of these are
recognised in the clinical commissioning
group’s surplus/deficit in the period in
which they arise.

1.30
Third Party Assets

1.32
Subsidiaries

Assets belonging to third parties (such
as money held on behalf of patients)
are not recognised in the accounts since
the clinical commissioning group has no
beneficial interest in them.

Material entities over which the clinical
commissioning group has the power
to exercise control so as to obtain
economic or other benefits are classified
as subsidiaries and are consolidated.
Their income and expenses; gains and
losses; assets, liabilities and reserves;
and cash flows are consolidated in full
into the appropriate financial statement
lines. Appropriate adjustments are
made on consolidation where the
subsidiary’s accounting policies are not
aligned with the clinical commissioning
group or where the subsidiary’s
accounting date is not co-terminus.

1.31
Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are
items that Parliament would not
have contemplated when it agreed
funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are
items that ideally should not arise.
They are therefore subject to special
control procedures compared with
the generality of payments. They are
divided into different categories, which
govern the way that individual cases are
handled.
Losses and special payments are
charged to the relevant functional
headings in expenditure on an accruals
basis, including losses which would
have been made good through
insurance cover had the clinical
commissioning group not been bearing
its own risks (with insurance premiums
then being included as normal revenue
expenditure).

Subsidiaries that are classified as ‘held
for sale’ are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount or ‘fair value less
costs to sell’.
1.33
Associates
Material entities over which the
clinical commissioning group has the
power to exercise significant influence
so as to obtain economic or other
benefits are classified as associates
and are recognised in the clinical
commissioning group’s accounts using
the equity method. The investment
is recognised initially at cost and is
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adjusted subsequently to reflect the
clinical commissioning group’s share of
the entity’s profit/loss and other gains/
losses. It is also reduced when any
distribution is received by the clinical
commissioning group from the entity.
Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held
for sale’ are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount or ‘fair value less
costs to sell’.
1.34
Joint Ventures
Material entities over which the clinical
commissioning group has joint control
with one or more other parties so as
to obtain economic or other benefits
are classified as joint ventures. Joint
ventures are accounted for using the
equity method.
Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held
for sale’ are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount or ‘fair value less
costs to sell’.
1.35
Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities
undertaken by the clinical
commissioning group in conjunction
with one or more other parties but
which are not performed through
a separate entity. The clinical

commissioning group records its share
of the income and expenditure; gains
and losses; assets and liabilities; and
cash flows.
1.36
Research & Development
Research and development expenditure
is charged in the year in which it is
incurred, except insofar as development
expenditure relates to a clearly defined
project and the benefits of it can
reasonably be regarded as assured.
Expenditure so deferred is limited to
the value of future benefits expected
and is amortised through the Statement
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
on a systematic basis over the period
expected to benefit from the project.
It should be re-valued on the basis
of current cost. The amortisation
is calculated on the same basis as
depreciation.
1.37
Accounting Standards That Have
Been Issued But Have Not Yet
Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting
Manual does not require the following
Standards and Interpretations to be
applied in 2013-14, all of which are
subject to consultation:

• IAS 27: Separate Financial
Statements
• IAS 28: Investments in Associates
& Joint Ventures
• IAS 32: Financial Instruments Presentation (amendment)
• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
• IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial
Statements
• IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
• IFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities
• IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
The application of the Standards as
revised would not have a material
impact on the accounts for 2013-14,
were they applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Patient transport services
Prescription fees and charges
Dental fees and charges
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2013-14
Total

2013-14
2013-14
Admin Programme

£000

£000

£000

16
200
47
7,795
981
9,039

5,413
981
6,394

16
200
47
2,382
2,645

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG
and credited to the General Fund.
2013-14
Total

2013-14
2013-14
Admin Programme

3. Revenue

£000

£000

£000

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

9,039
9,039

6,394
6,394

2,645
2,645

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1. Employee benefits

2013-14
Total
Total Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Admin
Permanent
Employees

Other

Total Programme
Permanent
Employees

Other

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

6,460
518
746
156
7,880

5,593
518
746
156
7,013

867
867

5,923
516
742
152
7,333

5,249
516
742
152
6,659

674
674

536
2
5
4
547

343
2
5
4
354

193
193

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(16)
7,864

(16)
6,997

867

7,333

6,659

674

(16)
531

(16)
338

193

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

7,864

6,997

867

7,333

6,659

674

531

338

193

2013-14
Total
Total Permanent
Employees

Other

£000
(10)
(1)
(1)
(4)
(16)

£000
-

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

£000
(10)
(1)
(1)
(4)
(16)
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2013-14 Permanently
employed
Total

Other

Number

Number

Number

158

137

21

-

-

-

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

2013-14

4.2 Average number
of people employed
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time
equivalent people engaged
on capital projects

Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost
Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds
Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year
Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension
Scheme
Where the clinical commissioning group has agreed early
retirements, the additional costs are met by the clinical
commissioning group and not by the NHS Pension Scheme.

Number
434
144
3
Nil
Nil
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4.4 Exit packages agreed in
the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2013/14
Compulsory
Redundancies

Other agreed
departures

Total

Analysis of other agreed
departures

Number

£

Number

£

Number

£

1
1

4,214
4,214

2
2

30,105
30,105

1
2
3

4,214
30,105
34,319

Departures where
special payments
have been made

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

Number

£

-

-

Voluntary redundancies including
early retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations
(MARS) contractual costs		
Early retirements in the efficiency
of the service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of
notice
Exit payments following
Employment Tribunals
or court orders
Non-contractual payments
requiring HMT approval *
**Total

Other agreed
departures
Number

£

1

16,251

-

-

-

-

1

13,854

-

-

2

30,105

* Includes any non-contractual severance payments made following judicial
mediation.

Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards
and at the latest in full in the year of departure.

** As a single exit package can be made up of several components each
of which will be counted separately in this table, the total number will not
necessarily match the total number in the table above, which will be the
number of individuals.

Where the clinical commissioning group has agreed early retirements, the
additional costs are met by the clinical commissioning group and not by the
NHS Pension Scheme, and are included in the tables. Ill-health retirement
costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included in the tables.

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the
financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been
recognised in part or in full in a previous period.

No non-contractual payments were made to individuals where the payment
value was more than 12 months’ of their annual salary.

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with
the provisions of the Agenda for Change terms and conditions.

The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to
individuals named in that Report.

NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14
Page 104

4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered
by the provisions of the NHS Pension
Scheme. Details of the benefits payable
under these provisions can be found
on the NHS Pensions website at www.
nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions
The Scheme is an unfunded, defined
benefit scheme that covers NHS
employers, GP practices and other
bodies, allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State, in England and
Wales. The Scheme is not designed to
be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the Scheme is accounted
for as if it were a defined contribution
scheme: the cost to the clinical
commissioning group of participating
in the Scheme is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to the Scheme for
the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial
valuation every four years (until 2004,
every five years) and an accounting
valuation every year. An outline of these
follows:

4.5.1 Full actuarial (funding)
valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to
assess the level of liability in respect
of the benefits due under the Scheme
(taking into account its recent
demographic experience), and to
recommend the contribution rates
to be paid by employers and scheme
members. The last such valuation,
which determined current contribution
rates was undertaken as at 31 March
2004 and covered the period from 1
April 1999 to that date. The conclusion
from the 2004 valuation was that the
Scheme had accumulated a notional
deficit of £3.3 billion against the
notional assets as at 31 March 2004.
In order to defray the costs of benefits,
employers pay contributions at 14% of
Pensionable pay and most employees
had up to April 2008 paid 6%, with
manual staff paying 5%.
Following the full actuarial review by
the Government Actuary undertaken
as at 31 March 2004, and after
consideration of changes to the
NHS Pension Scheme taking effect
from 1 April 2008, his Valuation
report recommended that employer
contributions could continue at the
existing rate of 14% of Pensionable
pay, from 1 April 2008, following the

introduction of employee contributions
on a tiered scale from 5% up to 8.5%
of their Pensionable pay depending
on total earnings. On advice from the
scheme actuary, scheme contributions
may be varied from time to time
to reflect changes in the scheme’s
liabilities.
The last published actuarial valuation
undertaken for the NHS Pension
Scheme was completed for theyear
ending 31 March 2004. Consequently,
a formal actuarial valuation would
have been due for theyear ending
31 March 2008. However, formal
actuarial valuations for unfunded
public service schemeswere suspended
by HM Treasury on value for money
grounds while consideration is given
to recentchanges to public service
pensions, and while future scheme
terms are developed as part of
thereforms to public service pension
provision due in 2015.
4.5.2 Accounting valuation

detailed member data-set is provided
to the scheme actuary. At this point the
assumptions regarding the composition
of the scheme membership are updated
to allow the scheme liability to be
valued.
The valuation of the scheme liability as
at 31 March 2011 is based on detailed
membership data as at 31 March
2008 (the latest midpoint) updated to
31 March 2011 with summary global
member and accounting data.
The latest assessment of the liabilities
of the Scheme is contained in the
scheme actuary report, which forms
part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme
(England and Wales) Resource Account,
published annually. These accounts
can be viewed on the NHS Pensions
website. Copies can also be obtained
from The Stationery Office.
4.5.3 Scheme Provisions

A valuation of the scheme liability is
carried out annually by the scheme
actuary as at the end of the reporting
period by updating the results of the
full actuarial valuation.

The NHS Pension Scheme provides
defined benefits, which are summarised
below. This list is an illustrative guide
only, and is not intended to detail all
the benefits provided by the Scheme or
the specific conditions that must be met
before these benefits can be obtained:

Between the full actuarial valuations
at a two-year midpoint, a full and

• The Scheme is a “final salary”
scheme. Annual pensions are
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normally based on 1/80th for the
1995 section and of the best of the
last three years pensionable pay for
each year of service, and 1/60th for
the 2008 section of reckonable pay
per year of membership. Members
who are practitioners as defined
by the Scheme Regulations have
their annual pensions based upon
total pensionable earnings over the
relevant pensionable service;
• With effect from 1 April 2008
members can choose to give up
some of their annual pension for an
additional tax free lump sum, up to a
maximum amount permitted under
HM Revenue & Customs rules. This
new provision is known as “pension
commutation”;
• Annual increases are applied to
pension payments at rates defined
by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971,
and are based on changes in retail
prices in the twelve months ending
30 September in the previous
calendar year;
• Early payment of a pension, with
enhancement, is available to
members of the Scheme who are
permanently incapable of fulfilling
their duties effectively through illness
or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice
final year’s pensionable pay for death

in service, and five times their annual
pension for death after retirement is
payable;
• For early retirements other than
those due to ill health the additional
pension liabilities are not funded
by the scheme. The full amount of
the liability for the additional costs
is charged to the statement of
comprehensive net expenditure at
the time the clinical commissioning
group commits itself to the
retirement, regardless of the method
of payment; and,
• Members can purchase additional
service in the Scheme and contribute
to money purchase AVC’s run by
the Scheme’s approved providers or
by other Free Standing Additional
Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC)
providers.
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5. Operating expenses

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excl. governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and lay membership body and governing
body members
Supplies and services - clinical
Supplies and services - general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Inventories written down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant
and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
• Assets carried at amortised cost
• Assets carried at cost
• Available for sale financial assets

2013-14
Total

2013-14
2013-14
Admin Programme

£000

£000

£000

7,347
533
7,880

6,800
533
7,333

547
547

974
166,311
12,701
429
44,459
584

288
1
2
584

686
166,310
12,701
429
44,457
-

683
159
468
4,036
0
346
1
-

159
394
2,213
0
346
1
-

683
74
1,823
-

-

-

-

2013-14
Total

2013-14
2013-14
Admin Programme

£000

£000

£000

-

-

-

79

79

-

Impairments and reversals of non-current assets
held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment
properties
Audit fees
Other auditor’s remuneration
• Internal audit services
• Other services
General dental services and personal
dental services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General opthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Grants to other public bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Other expenditure
Total other costs

-

-

-

37,899
830
106
7
90
1,685
271,847

106
7
89
0
4,269

37,899
830
1
1,685
267,578

Total operating expenses

279,727

11,602

268,125

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the
provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

2013/14

2013/14

Measure of compliance

Number

£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

7,724
7,129
92.30%

52,597
48,513
92.24%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade invoices paid within target

2,017
1,876
93.01%

191,177
185,798
97.19%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date
or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

2013/14
Number

Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation
Total
7. Income Generation Activities
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not undertake any income generation activities.

-
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8. Investment revenue

2013/14

10. Finance costs

2013/14
£000

£000
Rental Revenue
PFI finance lease revenue (planned)
PFI finance lease revenue (contingent)
Other finance lease revenue
Total rental revenue

-

Interest Revenue
LIFT: equity dividends receivable
LIFT: loan interest receivable
Bank interest
Other loans and receivables
Impaired financial assets
Other financial assets
Total interest revenue

-

Interest
Interest on loans and overdrafts
Interest on obligations under finance leases
Interest on obligations under PFI contracts:
• Main finance cost
• Contingent finance cost
Interest on obligations under LIFT contracts:
• Main finance cost
• Contingent finance cost
Interest on late payment of commercial debt
Other interest expense
Total interest
Other finance costs
Provisions: unwinding of discount

Total investment revenue

-

Total finance costs

9. Other gains and losses

2013/14
£000

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment assets other than by sale
Gain/(loss) on disposal of intangible assets other than by sale
Gain/(loss) on disposal of financial assets other than held for sale
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets held for sale
Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange
Change in fair value of financial assets carried at fair value through the statement of comprehensive net expenditure
Change in fair value of financial liabilities carried at fair value through the statement of comprehensive net expenditure
Change in fair value of investment property
Recycling of gain/(loss) from equity on disposal of financial assets held for sale
Total

-
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11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption
£15k of fixed assets have been transferred from Suffolk Primary Care Trust
(the legacy organisation) to NHS West Suffolk CCG. No net gain/(loss) has arisen
on transfer by absorption.
12. Operating Leases

12.1.2 Future minimum
lease payments

Land

Buildings

Other

2013/14
Total

Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

£000
-

£000
-

£000
-

£000
-

12.1 As lessee
12.2 As lessor
The clinical commissioning group occupies property owned and managed by NHS
Property Services Ltd. For 2013-14, a transitional occupancy rent based on annual
property cost allocations was agreed. This is reflected in Note 12.1.1.
While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition
of operating leases, the rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed.
Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these
arrangements.
12.1.1 Payments recognised
as an Expense

Land

Buildings

Other

2013/14
Total

£000
-

£000
143
143

£000
-

£000
143
143

2013/14

12.2.1 Rental revenue

£000

Recognised as income
Rent
Contingent rents
Total

-

12.2.2 Future minimum
rental value

2013/14
£000

Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

Receivable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

-
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13. Property, plant and equipment
2013-14

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies as a result
of the 1 April 2013 transition
Adjusted Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013
Addition of assets under construction and payments
on account
Additions purchased
Additions donated
Additions government granted
Additions leased
Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals
Disposals other than by sale
Upward revaluation gains
Impairments charged
Reversal of impairments
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation
At 31 March 2014
Depreciation 1 April 2013
Adjusted depreciation 1 April 2013

Furniture
& fittings

Total

£000
-

£000
-

15
15
-

15
15
-

15

15

-

-

Furniture
& fittings

Total

£000
1
1

£000
1
1

Net Book Value at 31 March 2014

14

14

Purchased
Donated
Government Granted
Total at 31 March 2014

14
14

14
14

Owned
Held on finance lease
On-SOFP Lift contracts
PFI residual: interests
Total PFI & LIFT assets

14
-

14
-

Total at 31 March 2014

14

14

2013-14

Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals
Disposals other than by sale
Upward revaluation gains
Impairments charged
Reversal of impairments
Charged during the year
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation
At 31 March 2014

Asset financing:
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13. Property, plant and equipment - continued

13.1 Temporarily idle assets
Furniture
& fittings

Total

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no temporarily idle assets
as at 31 March 2014.

£000

£000

13.2 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

Balance at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies
as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2013

-

-

Revaluation gains
Impairments
Release to general fund
Other movements
At 31 March 2014

-

-

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property,
Plant & Equipment

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no fully depreciated assets still in use
as at 31 March 2014.
13.3 Economic lives

Furniture & fittings

Minimum Maximum
Life
Life
(Years)
(Years)
10

15

14. Intangible non-current assets
The Clinical Commissioning Group has no Intangible non-current assets
as at 31 March 2014.
15. Investment property
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no investment property as at 31 March 2014.
16. Inventories
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no inventories as at 31 March 2014.
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Current
2013/14

Noncurrent
2013/14

£000

£000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments and accrued income
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS receivables: Capital
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Private finance initiative and other public private partnership
arrangement prepayments and accrued income
Interest receivables
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables
Total

2,532
649
200
3

-

1
3,385

-

Total current and non current

3,385

17. Trade and other receivables

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

-

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by
Government to provide funding to clinical commissioning groups to commission
services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2013/14
£000
336
336

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total
The Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any collateral against receivables
outstanding at 31 March 2014.
17.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

2013/14
£000

Balance at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies as a result
of the 1 April 2013 transition
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2013

-

Amounts written off during the year
Amounts recovered during the year
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Balance at 31 March 2014

-
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18. Other financial assets

21 Non-current assets held for sale

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other financial assets as at 31 March 2014.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no non-current assets held for sale
as at 31 March 2014.

19. Other current assets
22. Analysis of impairments and reversals
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other current assets as at 31 March 2014.
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no impairments or reversals of impairments
recognised in expenditure during 2013-14.
20. Cash and cash equivalents

2013/14
£000

Balance at 1 April 2013
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2014
Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts
Balance at 31 March 2014
Patients’ money held by the Clinical Commissioning Group,
not included above

Current
2013/14

Noncurrent
2013/14

Interest payable
NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS payables: capital
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables
Total

£000
4,081
1,722
9,383
106
113
176
15,581

£000
-

Total payables (current and non-current)

15,581

23. Trade and other payables

156
156
155
1
156
156
-

Included above are liabilities of £Nil due in future years under arrangements to buy
out the liability for early retirement over 5 years. Other payables include £153k
outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2014.
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24. Other financial liabilities

28. Finance lease obligations

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other financial liabilities as at 31 March
2014.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no finance lease obligations as at 31 March
2014.

25. Other liabilities

29. Finance lease receivables

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other liabilities as at 31 March 2014.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no finance lease receivables as at 31 March
2014.

26. Borrowings
30. Provisions
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no borrowings as at 31 March 2014.
27. Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements
27.1 Off-Statement of Financial Position private finance initiative and other
service concession arrangements
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no private finance initiative, LIFT or other
service concession arrangements that were excluded from the Statement of Financial
Position as at 31 March 2014.
27.2 On-Statement of Financial Position private finance initiative and other
service concession arrangements
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no private finance initiative,LIFT or other
service concession arrangements that were included in the Statement of Financial
Position as at 31 March 2014.

Redundancy
Continuing care
Total
Total current and non-current

Current
2013/14

Noncurrent
2013/14

£000

£000

122
1,685
1,807

-
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30. Provisions (continued)

Redundancy

Continuing
Care

Total

The Continuing Care provision consists of the likely costs associated with the backlog
of business as usual cases still to be assessed as at 31 March 2014. The provision
has been calculated on a cases by case basis using both average weekly costs and
conversion rates.

£000

£000

£000

Balance at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies
as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2013

-

-

-

-

-

-

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS
England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing
Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the clinical
commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total
value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England
on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2014 is £3,915k.

Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Balance at 31 March 2014

156
(34)
122

1,685
1,685

1,841
(34)
1,807

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2014

122
122

1,685
1,685

1,807
1,807

£Nil is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority as at 31 March 2014
in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
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31. Contingencies

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2014.

risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within
parameters defined formally within the clinical commissioning group’s standing
financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is
subject to review by the clinical commissioning group’s internal auditors.

Contingent assets

33.1.1 Currency risk

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no contingent assets as at 31 March 2014.

The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great
majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The
clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The clinical commissioning
group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

Contingent liabilities

32. Commitments
32.1 Capital commitments

33.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no contracted capital commitments not
otherwise included in these financial statements as at 31 March 2014.
32.2 Other financial commitments
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no non-cancellable contracts (which are not
leases, private finance initiative contracts or other service concession arrangements)
as at 31 March 2014.
33. Financial instruments
33.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that
financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a
body faces in undertaking its activities. Because the clinical commissioning group is
financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial
risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited
role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which
the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure,
subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to
25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the
National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning
group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
33.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group’s revenue comes from
parliamentary funding, the clinical commissioning group has low exposure to credit
risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables
from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
33.1.3 Liquidity risk
The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital
resource limits agreed with NHS England, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover
expenditure, from NHS England, as the need arises, unrelated to its performance
against resource limits. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to
significant liquidity risks.
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33. Financial instruments (continued)
33.2 Financial assets

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
• NHS
• Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2014
33.3 Financial liabilities

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
• NHS
• Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease
obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2014

At ‘fair Loans and
value Receivables
through
profit
and loss’

Available
for Sale

Total

2013/14
£000

2013/14
£000

2013/14
£000

2013/14
£000

-

2,532
649
156
0
3,337

-

2,532
649
156
0
3,337

At ‘fair Loans and
value Receivables
through
profit
and loss’

Available
for Sale

Total

2013/14
£000

2013/14
£000

2013/14
£000

2013/14
£000

-

4,081
11,105

-

4,081
11,105

The CCG’s share of this surplus is £2,008.

-

15,186

-

15,186

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no LIFT investments as at 31
March 2014.

34. Operating segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group consider they have only one segment:
commissioning of healthcare services.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has income totalling £9,038K from
external customers. The only customer generating income greater than
10% of the total sum is Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG (£6,351k). The
majority of this income is derived from the hosting arrangements in
respect of the Management Delivery Team.
35. Pooled budgets
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled funding
arrangement under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, in which the Clinical
Commissioning Group made a total contribution of £487,350. This is a
jointly controlled operation under IAS 31.
The pool is hosted by Suffolk County Council. As a commissioner
of healthcare services, the Clinical Commissioning Group makes
contributions to the pool, which are then used to purchase Mental Health
services.
The memorandum account produced by Suffolk County Council shows
total income of £3,854,790 and total expenditure of £3,838,906. This
leaves a surplus of £15,884 as at 31 March 2014.

36. NHS Lift investments
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37. Intra-government and other balances

Balances with:
• Other Central Government bodies
• Local Authorities
Balances with NHS bodies:
• NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
• NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
• Public corporations and trading funds
• Bodies external to Government
Total balances at 31 March 2014

Current
Receivables

Noncurrent
Receivables

Current
Payables

Noncurrent
Payables

2013/14
£000

2013/14
£000

2013/14
£000

2013/14
£000

75
288

-

510
113

-

2,293
239
2,532

-

1,793
2,288
4,081

-

490

-

10,877

-

3,385

-

15,581

-
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38. Related party transactions
West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across three
localities; one secondary care lead; two lay members, responsible for patient and
public engagement and governance and seven chief officers. The GP membership of
the governing body also serve as members of the CCG’s Clinical Executive Committee.
Seven of the GPs on the governing body are Partners in Practices that supply general
or personal medical services commissioned by West Suffolk CCG. The value of
transactions with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of
payments for local enhanced services supplied under contract to the CCG
Name of Related Party

Dr Rosalind Tandy is also a governing body member but is employed as a salaried GP
by The Christmas Maltings Surgery. Dr Catherine Firth, the spouse of Dr Rakesh Raja,
is a salaried GP at the Hardwick House Group Practice.
Dr Christopher Browning provides services to Harmoni HS Ltd, acting as their Clinical
Lead for Out of Hours Services supplied under contract to West Suffolk CCG. The
CCGs transactions with Harmoni HS Ltd were as follows:
Name of Related Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

3,181

0

64

1

Payments
to Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

19

0

0

0

104

0

0

0

Dr Rakesh Raja is a director and shareholder of the Sudbury Health Partnership, which
provides community ultrasound services to West Suffolk CCG. The CCGs transactions
with Sudbury Health Partnership were as follows:

18

0

0

0

Name of Related Party

82

0

0

66

0

44
20

Harmoni HS Ltd
Dr Christopher Browning
Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Emma Derbyshire
Partner - Swan Surgery
Dr Jonathan Ferdinand
Partner - Wickhambrook Surgery
Dr Rakesh Raja
Partner - Hardwicke House Group
Practice
Dr Nicholas Simon Arthur
Partner - Oakfield Surgery
Dr Andrew Yager
Partner - Botesdale Health Centre
Dr Giles Stevens
Partner - Christmas Maltings
Surgery

Payments
to Related
Party

0

Payments
to Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

0

0

£000

£000

£000

£000

1

3

1

42

0

4

0

0

0

0

Sudbury Health Partnership
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Peter Knights is a governing body member and also the Business Partner and Practice
Manager at Mount Farm Surgery. David Cripps is a governing body member and also
the Practice Manager at Hardwicke House Group Practice. The CCG’s transactions
with Mount Farm Surgery and Hardwicke House Group Practice during the year were
as follows:
Name of Related Party

Peter Knights Mount Farm Surgery
David Cripps Hardwicke House Group Practice

Payments
to Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

57

0

0

0

82

0

0

0

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk
CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the
Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value
of transactions exceeded £250,000 are listed below:
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Colchester University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
East of England Ambulance NHS Trust
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust
Mid Essex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
North Essex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG
NHS England
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Bill Banks is a governing body member, Vice Chair of the CCG and Lay Member for
Governance. Bill is also a member of the Audit and Risk Committee of University
Campus Suffolk. The CCGs transactions with University Campus Suffolk were as
follows:

In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other
government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of
these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.

Name of Related Party

39. Events after the end of the reporting period

University Campus Suffolk

Payments
to Related
Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party

Amounts
due from
Related
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

0

7

0

7

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the
financial statements of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
40. Losses and special payments
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no losses and special payments cases during
2013-14.
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41. Third party assets
The Clinical Commissioning Group held no third party assets as at 31 March 2014.
42. Financial performance targets
Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act
2006 (as amended). The clinical commissioning group’s performance against those
duties was as follows:

2013-14
Maximum

2013-14
Performance

£000

£000

282,385
273,346
5,920

279,727
270,688
5,208

Duty
Achieved?

National Health Service
Act Section

223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)
223J(1)
223J(2)
223J(3)

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

The Clinical Commissioning Group achieved a surplus of £2,658k for the year ended 31 March 2014 - shown by line 223I(3) in the table above.
43. Impact of IFRS
Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the Clinical Commissioning
Group during 2013-14.
44. Analysis of charitable reserves
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no charitable reserves during 2013-14.

Yes
N/A
Yes
N/A
N/A
Yes

If you need help to understand this information
in another language please call 01473 770 014
Portuguese
Polish
Bengali
Kurdish
Chinese
Farsi

If you would like this information in another
format, including audio tape, braille or large
print, please call 01473 770 014

